PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION INC Form 10-Q February 14, 2011

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended December 31, 2010

or

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from

to

Commission File Number: 001-10647

PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Massachusetts 04-2795294

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

22 East Broadway, Gardner, Massachusetts 01440-3338

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(978) 630-1800

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes o No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of large accelerated filer, accelerated filer, and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer o

Accelerated filer o

Non-accelerated filer o
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Smaller reporting company x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes o No x

The number of shares outstanding of the issuer s common stock, par value \$0.01 per share, at February 14, 2011 was 1,018,411 shares.

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(UNAUDITED)

	December 31, 2010	June 30, 2010
<u>ASSETS</u>		
CURRENT ASSETS		
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$ 99,588	\$ 416,040
Accounts Receivable, net	270,945	505,200
Inventories, net	649,224	684,321
Prepaid Expenses	51,657	33,499
Total Current Assets	1,071,414	1,639,060
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT		
Machinery and Equipment	2,355,968	2,355,968
Leasehold Improvements	553,596	553,596
Furniture and Fixtures	148,303	148,303
Vehicles	19,674	19,674
	3,077,541	3,077,541
Less: Accumulated Depreciation	(3,004,453)	(2,991,441)
Net Property and Equipment	73,088	86,100
OTHER ASSETS		
Patents, net	193,306	203,539
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 1,337,808	\$ 1,928,699
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)		
CURRENT LIABILITIES		
10% Senior Secured Convertible Notes	\$ 750,833	\$ 720,833
Accounts Payable	463,900	448,894
Customer Advances	35,992	101,068
Accrued Employee Compensation	673,846	730,241
Accrued Professional Services	34,571	66,000
Accrued Warranty Expense	25,000	25,000
Other Accrued Liabilities		912
Total Current Liabilities	1,984,142	2,092,948
STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)		
Common Stock, \$0.01 par value -		
Authorized - 50,000,000 shares		
Issued 1,018,411 shares at December 31, 2010 and at June 30, 2010	10,184	10,184
Additional Paid-in Capital	38,243,510	38,236,325
Accumulated Deficit	(38,899,554)	(38,410,758)
	(645,860)	(164,249)
Treasury Stock, 47,398 shares, at cost	(474)	, , ,
Total Stockholders Equity (Deficit)	(646,334)	(164,249)

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY (DEFICIT)

\$

1,337,808 \$

1,928,699

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED

DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND 2009

(UNAUDITED)

		Three Months Ended December 31,			Ended Do	Months ecember	per 31,	
		2010		2009	2010		2009	
Revenues	\$	435,770	\$	686,036	\$ 1,119,672	\$	1,309,420	
Cost of Goods Sold		342,980		447,277	674,645		851,635	
Gross Profit		92,790		238,759	445,027		457,785	
Research and Development Expenses, net		246,093		180,016	473,587		194,663	
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses		180,657		300,617	460,429		613,303	
Gain on Sale of Assets		(17,938)		(2,483)	(29,991)		(3,353)	
Total Operating Expenses		408,812		478,150	904,025		804,613	
Operating Loss		(316,022)		(239,391)	(458,998)		(346,828)	
Interest Income		72		168	202		330	
Interest Expense		(15,000)		(64,875)	(30,000)		(129,750)	
F 1 1 1		(2, 2 2)		(= ,===)	(,,		(1,111)	
Net Loss	\$	(330,950)	\$	(304,098)	\$ (488,796)	\$	(476,248)	
	-	(000,000)	-	(001,000)	(100,170)	-	(1, 0,=10)	
Loss Per Share - Basic and Diluted	\$	(0.33)	\$	(0.30) \$	\$ (0.48)	\$	(0.47)	
	-	(0.00)	7	(0.00)	(0.10)	Ψ	(0.17)	
Weighted Average Common Shares								
Outstanding - Basic and Diluted		1,017,896		1,018,411	1,018,153		1,018,411	
O diotalianing Duble alla Dilatea		1,017,070		1,010,111	1,010,133		1,010,111	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED

DECEMBER 30, 2010 AND 2009

(UNAUDITED)

	20	Six Months Ended December 30,			
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:	20	10		2009	
	\$	(488,796)	\$	(476,248)	
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Loss to Net Cash	Ψ	(100,770)	Ψ	(170,210)	
Used In Operating Activities - Depreciation and Amortization		29,394		42,130	
Gain on Sale of Assets		(29,991)		(3,353)	
Stock-based Compensation and Consulting Expense		7,185		7,971	
Non-cash Interest Expense		30,000		129,750	
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities-		,		ŕ	
Accounts Receivable, net		234,255		27,824	
Inventories		35,097		(21,690)	
Prepaid Expenses		(18,158)		(9,266)	
Accounts Payable		15,006		(3,744)	
Customer Advances		(65,076)		100,175	
Accrued Expenses		(88,736)		56,673	
Net Cash Used In Operating Activities		(339,820)		(149,778)	
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:					
Purchases of Property and Equipment				(1,063)	
Proceeds from Sale of Assets		29,991		3,353	
Additional Patent Costs		(6,149)		(20,545)	
Net Cash Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities		23,842		(18,255)	
GARLELOWGEDOMENTANGING ACCOMPANDED					
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:		(47.4)			
Purchase of treasury stock (47,398 shares)		(474)			
Net Cash Used In Financing Activities		(474)			
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		(316,452)		(168,033)	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD		416,040		384,593	
		,			
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD	\$	99,588	\$	216,560	
· .					
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:					
Cash Paid for-Income Taxes	\$	912	\$	912	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation and Operations

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Precision Optics Corporation, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. All shares and per share data reflect the 1-for-25 reverse stock split that became effective on December 11, 2008.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company, without audit, and reflect normal recurring adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair statement of the results of the second quarter of the Company s fiscal year 2011. These consolidated financial statements do not include all disclosures associated with annual consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, should be read in conjunction with footnotes contained in the Company s consolidated financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010 together with the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm filed under cover of the Company s 2010 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company has sustained recurring net losses and negative cash flows from operations for several years. During the quarter ended December 31, 2010, the Company incurred a net loss of \$330,950 and used cash in operations of \$181,439. As of December 31, 2010, cash and cash equivalents were \$99,588, accounts receivable were \$270,945 and current liabilities were \$1,984,142. The Company and certain Officers and Directors have agreed that deferred officers—salaries and director consulting expenses accrued at December 31, 2010 will be settled by issuing 245,326 shares of restricted common stock rather than by cash payments. These deferred amounts included in current liabilities at December 31, 2010 total \$674,645. These factors raise substantial doubt about the Company—sability to continue as a going concern. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. During the latter part of fiscal year 2008, the Company implemented plans to reduce costs and to streamline operations in an effort to reduce net losses. The Company believes that the recent introduction of several new products, along with new and on-going customer relationships, will generate additional revenues, which are required in order for the Company to achieve profitability. If these additional revenues are not achieved on a timely basis, the Company will be required and is prepared to implement further cost reduction measures, as necessary.

The Company has incurred quarter to quarter operating losses during its recent efforts to develop current products including endoscopes, image couplers, beamsplitters, night vision and micro-optic lenses, prisms and assemblies for various applications and utilizing a number of proprietary and patent-pending technologies including Lenslock endoscope and micro-precision lens technologies. Management expects that such operating losses will continue through fiscal year 2011, and until sales increase to breakeven and profitable levels. Management also believes that the opportunities represented by these products have the potential to generate sales increases to achieve breakeven and profitable results. The Company will continue its review of other expense areas to determine where additional reductions in discretionary spending can be achieved. There can be no assurance that the Company s operating plans will be successful, and if so required, that the Company will be successful in obtaining the capital necessary to continue ongoing operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Loss Per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period. For the three and six months ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the effect of stock options and warrants was antidilutive; therefore, they were not included in the computation of diluted loss per share. The number of shares issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options and warrants that were excluded from the computation was 1,112,253 and 992,999 for the three and six months ended December 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

In assessing the likelihood of utilization of existing deferred tax assets, management has considered historical results of operations and the current operating environment. Based on this evaluation, a full valuation reserve has been provided for the deferred tax assets.

2. INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market and consist of the following:

	Dec	cember 31, 2010	June 30, 2010
Raw Materials	\$	313,964	\$ 335,093
Work-In-Progress		248,142	275,340
Finished Goods		87,118	73,888
Total Inventories	\$	649,224	\$ 684,321

3. 10% SENIOR SECURED CONVERTIBLE NOTES

On June 25, 2008, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement with institutional and other accredited investors (the Investors) pursuant to which it sold a total of \$600,000 of 10% Senior Secured Convertible Notes (the Notes) that are convertible at the Investor s option into a total of 480,000 shares of the Company s common stock at a conversion rate of \$1.25. The Company also issued warrants to purchase a total of 316,800 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of \$1.75 per share (the Warrants). Interest accrues on the Notes at a rate of 10% per year and is payable in cash upon the earlier of conversion or maturity of the Notes. The original maturity of the Notes was June 25, 2010 and the Warrants expire on June 25, 2015, subject to extension. On June 25, 2008, we entered into a Purchase Agreement, as amended on December 11, 2008, with certain accredited investors (the Investors) pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of \$600,000 of 10% Senior Secured Convertible Notes (the Notes). The Investors amended the Notes on several dates to extend the Stated Maturity Date of the Notes. On February 7, 2011, the Investors further amended the Notes to extend the Stated Maturity Date to February 25, 2011. The conversion price of the Notes and the exercise price of the Warrants may be adjusted downward in the event the Company issues shares of common stock or securities convertible into common stock at a price lower than the conversion price of the Notes or exercise price of the Warrants at the time of issuance.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Notes and Warrants were not convertible or exercisable until the Company implemented a 1 for 6 reverse stock split, which required the approval of its stockholders. On November 25, 2008, the Company entered into a Side Letter Agreement in which the Investors agreed to change the ratio of the reverse split from 1 for 6 to 1 for 25. On December 11, 2008, the Company effected a 1 for 25 reverse split of its common stock.

Pursuant to a Registration Rights Agreement entered into with the Investors on June 25, 2008, the Company agreed to file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission by the earlier of (i) two days following the effectiveness of the amendment to implement a reverse stock split and (ii) December 15, 2008, to register the resale of the common stock issuable upon the conversion of the Notes and the exercise of the Warrants. The Company agreed to keep the registration statement effective until the earlier of (i) the date on which all the securities covered by the registration statement, as amended from time to time, have been sold and (ii) the date on which all the securities covered by such registration statement may be sold without restriction pursuant to Rule 144 of the Securities Act of 1933.

The	Notes	contain	covenants	hinding of	on the	Company	and	certain	events o	of d	lefault	includin	σ hii	t not	limited	to:
1110	110103	Comain	COvenants	omanig (m unc	Compan	y and	ccitain	CVCIIts	or u	iciauit,	meradin	g ou	t mot	mmucu,	w.

- the failure of the Company to make a scheduled payment;
- the failure of the Company to make payments in excess of \$100,000 on any liability or obligation, or if there is an acceleration of the stated maturity of any liability or obligation in excess of \$100,000; or
- the Company entering bankruptcy.

6

If an event of default occurs and is uncured within the allowable grace period, if any, the Investors may declare all amounts under the Notes immediately due and payable and may pursue any other available remedies.

The 10% Senior Secured Convertible Notes consist of the following:

	De	ecember 31, 2010	June 30, 2010
10% Senior Secured Convertible Notes issued on June 25, 2008, convertible into			
common stock at \$1.25 per share, bearing interest at 10% per annum. Outstanding			
principal and accrued interest are due at maturity	\$	600,000	\$ 600,000
Accrued interest 10% coupon		150,833	120,833
	\$	750,833	\$ 720,833

4. <u>STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION</u>

Stock-based compensation costs recognized during the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010 amounted to \$3,176 and \$6,352, respectively, and for the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2009 amounted to \$4,795 and \$7,971, respectively, and were included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. No compensation has been capitalized because such amounts would have been immaterial. There was no net income tax benefit recognized related to such compensation for the three and six month periods ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, as the Company is currently in a loss position.

As of December 31, 2010, the unrecognized compensation costs related to options vesting will be primarily recognized over a period of approximately six months:

OPTIONS	2	2011	Total
Compensation Expense	\$	6,352	\$ 6,352

There was no stock option activity during the first six months of fiscal year 2011.

Information related to the stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2010 is as follows:

		Weighted- Average			Exercisable		
		Remaining	Weighted-	Exercisable	Weighted-		
Range of	Number of	Contractual	Average	Number of	Average		
Exercise Prices	Shares	Life (years)	Exercise Price	Shares	Exercise Price		
\$1.3	5 1,200	8.90	\$ 1.35	1,200	\$ 1.35		

Edgar Filing: PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION INC - Form 10-Q

\$1.25	1,200	7.91	1.25	1,200	1.25
\$6.25	1,600	5.92	6.25	1,600	6.25
\$7.75	1,200	6.91	7.75	1,200	7.75
\$11.50	800	4.92	11.50	800	11.50
\$13.75	51,018	5.36	13.75	49,685	13.75
\$20.75	37,360	4.46	20.75	37,360	20.75
\$1.25-\$20.75	94,378	4.99	\$ 15.98	93,045	\$ 16.00

There were no in-the-money outstanding and exercisable options as of June 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010.

5. <u>WARRANTS</u>

During the quarter ended December 31, 2010, the Company issued warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$1.00 per share to several consultants to the Company. The warrants are exercisable beginning six months after December 16, 2010 (the issue date) and expire on December 16, 2013. The Black-Scholes option pricing model was used to calculate the fair value of the warrants, which was estimated to be \$0.10 per share, or \$10,000 in total. The expense associated with issuing the warrants will be recognized ratably over the six-month vesting period. A non-cash charge of \$833 was recorded in Selling, General and Administrative Expenses in the quarter ended December 31, 2010 in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

6. RESTRICTED STOCK

On December 3, 2010, Richard Forkey, who was at the time the Company s Chief Executive Officer, agreed to reduce his annual salary to \$100,000 per year, none of which will be deferred, and reduce his vacation accrual by \$43,011 at his new rate of pay to \$10,000. He also entered into an agreement to convert all \$474,646 of his previously deferred salary into 172,599 shares of our common stock. One eighth of the shares vest on January 1, 2012, and one eighth will vest on the first day of each quarter thereafter, commencing on April 1, 2012, until the shares are fully vested.

On December 3, 2010, Joseph Forkey, who was at the time the Company s Chief Scientific Officer, agreed to reduce his vacation accrual by \$4,824 at his current rate of pay, to \$10,000. Joseph Forkey s salary will remain the same at \$120,000 and none of it will be deferred. He also agreed to convert all \$29,999 of his previously deferred salary into 10,909 shares of our common stock. One-eighth of the shares vest on January 1, 2012, and one eighth will vest on the first day of each quarter thereafter, commencing on April 1, 2012, until the shares are fully vested.

On December 3, 2010, the Company agreed with Joel Pitlor, Director, to terminate his consulting agreement with the Company. The Company also agreed to convert all \$170,000 of the previously deferred consulting compensation owed to Mr. Pitlor into 61,818 shares of our common stock. One eighth of the shares vest on January 1, 2012, and one eighth shall vest on the first day of each quarter thereafter, commencing on April 1, 2012, until the shares are fully vested. Mr. Pitlor will remain as a Director of the Company.

Pursuant to the agreements with Richard Forkey, Joseph Forkey and Joel Pitlor, the shares of common stock will be issued as registered stock if the Company files a Form S-8 within six months of entering into the agreements. If the Company does not file a Form S-8 within six months, then the Company will issue the shares as restricted stock.

The following table indicates what the future effects will be on the Company s consolidated balance sheet upon the issuance of restricted stock in settlement of liabilities for deferred compensation and professional services, as indicated above:

	Increase
	(Decrease)
Accrued Employee Compensation	\$ (504,645)
Accounts Payable	\$ (170,000)
Total Current Liabilities	\$ (674,645)
Total Stockholders Equity (Deficit)	\$ 674,645

7. SALE OF ASSETS

During the six months ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, the Company sold equipment that was previously written off for proceeds totaling \$29,991 and \$3,353, respectively, and recorded a gain of \$29,991 and \$3,353, respectively, which is included within operating expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Important Factors Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the risks described in this report, the risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010 and other reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, they relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We do not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report to conform these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations, except as required by law.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and Notes thereto, and other financial information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Overview

We have been a developer and manufacturer of advanced optical instruments since 1982. We design and produce high-quality micro-optics, medical instruments and other advanced optical systems. Our medical instrumentation line includes laparoscopes, arthroscopes and endocouplers and a world-class product line of 3-D endoscopes for use in minimally invasive surgical procedures.

We are currently developing specialty instruments incorporating our Lenslock technology (patent pending) that ensures lower cost, easier reparability and enhanced durability as compared to other design approaches used in the industry. We are also aggressively pursuing ultra-small instruments, some with lenses less than 1 mm in diameter, utilizing micro-precision lens technology (patent pending).

We are registered to the ISO 9001:2008, ISO 13485:2003, and Canadian Medical Devices Conformity Assessment System, or CMDCAS, Quality Standards and comply with the FDA Good Manufacturing Practices and the European Union Medical Device Directive for CE marking of our medical products. Our internet website is www.poci.com. Information on our website is not intended to be integrated into this report.

The areas in which we do business are highly competitive and include both foreign and domestic competitors. Many of our competitors are larger and have substantially greater resources than we do. Furthermore, other domestic or foreign companies, some with greater financial resources than we have, may seek to produce products or services that compete with ours. We routinely outsource specialized production efforts as required, both domestic and offshore, to obtain the most cost effective production. Over the years, we have achieved extensive experience with other optical specialists worldwide.

Since the 1990s, we have maintained a Hong Kong subsidiary to support business and quality control activities as required throughout Asia. We believe that the cost savings from such production are essential to our ability to compete on a price basis in the medical products area particularly and to our profitability in general.

We believe that competition for sales of our medical products and services, which have been principally sold to original equipment manufacturer, or OEM, customers, is based on performance and other technical features, as well as other factors, such as scheduling and reliability, in addition to competitive price.

We believe that our future success depends to a large degree on our ability to continue to conceive and to develop new optical products and services to enhance the performance characteristics and methods of manufacture of existing products. Accordingly, we expect to continue to seek to obtain product-related design and development contracts with customers and to invest our own funds on research and development, to the extent funds are available.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

General

Management s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, referred to as U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

There have been no significant changes in the critical accounting policies disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2010.

Results of Operations

Our total revenues for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 were \$435,770, as compared to \$686,036 for the same period last year, a decrease of \$250,266, or 36.5%. Our total revenues for the six months ended December 31, 2010 were \$1,119,672, as compared to \$1,309,420 for the same period last year, a decrease of \$189,748, or 14.5%. The decrease in revenues for the current quarter and six months ended December 31, 2010 was due principally to lower unit sales of endocouplers, rigid endoscopes and sales of the advanced surgical visualization system used in spinal surgery. Revenues from our largest customers, as a percentage of total revenues, for the six months ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, were as follows:

	2010	2009
Customer A	23%	26%
Customer B	22	23
Customer C	21	20
Customer D		12
All Others	34	19
	100%	100%

No other customer accounted for more than 10% of our revenues during those periods.

Gross profit for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 was \$92,790, which reflects a decrease of \$145,969, compared to \$238,759 for the same period last year. Gross profit for the quarter ended December 31, 2010 as a percentage of revenues decreased from 34.8% for the quarter ended December 31, 2009 to 21.3% in the current year. Gross profit for the six months ended December 31, 2010 was \$445,027, which reflects a decrease of \$12,758, compared to \$457,785 for the same period last year. Gross profit for the six months ended December 31, 2010 as a percentage of revenues increased from 35.0% for the six months ended December 31, 2009 to 39.7% in the current year. The decrease in our gross profit percentage in the quarter ended December 31, 2010 compared to the same period last year was due primarily to lower overall sales

volume. The increase in our gross profit percentage for the six months ended December 31, 2010 compared to the same period last year was due primarily to more favorable product mix, partially offset by slightly lower unit sales volume. Our quarterly gross profit and gross profit percentage depend on a number of factors, including overall sales volume and mix of products sold among others and therefore vary from quarter to quarter.

Research and development expenses were \$246,093 for the quarter ended December 31, 2010, compared to \$180,016 for the same period last year, an increase of \$66,077, or 36.7%. Research and development expenses were \$473,587 for the six months ended December 31, 2010, compared to \$194,663 for the same period last year, an increase of \$278,924, or 143.3%. The increase in R&D expenses was due primarily to higher labor and material costs incurred on product development activities, and decreased reimbursements from customers for such activities. Research and development expenses depend on our assessment of new product opportunities and available resources. Research and development expenses were net of reimbursement of related costs of \$53,173 and \$29,244 during the quarters ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and \$107,804 and \$193,627 during the six months ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Selling, general and administrative expenses were \$180,657 for the quarter ended December 31, 2010, compared to \$300,617 for the same period last year, a decrease of \$119,960, or 39.9%. Selling, general and administrative expenses were \$460,429 for the six months ended December 31, 2010, compared to \$613,303 for the same period last year, a decrease of \$152,874, or 24.9%. The decrease was due primarily to the implementation of certain cost containment plans beginning in fiscal year 2008 and 2009 including

workforce reductions, as mentioned above, and a reduction in the accrued vacation liabilities for certain officers in connection with the settlement of deferred compensation liabilities. (See Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements).

Interest expense was \$15,000 for the quarter ended December 31, 2010, compared to \$64,875 for the same period last year, a decrease of \$49,875, or 76.9%. Interest expense was \$30,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2010, compared to \$129,750 for the same period last year, a decrease of \$99,750, or 76.9%. The decrease was due to discontinuation of the amortization of debt discount on the 10% Senior Secured Convertible Notes issued on June 25, 2008. The debt discount became fully amortized during fiscal year 2010.

No income tax provision was recorded in the first half of fiscal year 2011 or 2010 because of the losses generated in those periods.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We compete in a highly technical, very competitive, and in most cases, price driven segment of the medical instrument marketplace where products can take years to develop and introduce to distributors and end users. Furthermore, research and development, manufacturing, marketing and distribution activities are strictly regulated by the FDA, ISO and other regulatory bodies that, while intended to enhance the ultimate quality and functionality of products produced, can contribute to the significant cost and time needed to maintain existing products and develop and introduce product enhancements and new product innovations.

We have traditionally funded working capital needs through product sales, management of working capital components of our business, and by cash received from public and private offerings of our common stock, warrants to purchase shares of our common stock and convertible notes. We have incurred quarter to quarter operating losses during our efforts to develop current products including endoscopes, image couplers, beamsplitters, night vision and micro-optic lenses, prisms and assemblies for various applications utilizing a number of proprietary and patent-pending technologies including Lenslock endoscope and micro-precision lens technologies. Our management expects that such operating losses will continue until sales increase to breakeven and profitable levels. Our management also believes that the opportunities represented by these products have the potential to generate sales increases to achieve breakeven and profitable results.

Our current financial condition may raise doubt among potential equity investors, customers and suppliers regarding our ability to continue as a going concern, as referenced by the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on our financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010, included in our Form 10-K. We may not be able to obtain working capital funds necessary in the time frame needed and at satisfactory terms to correct the going concern issue.

As of December 31, 2010, cash and cash equivalents were \$99,588, accounts receivable were \$270,945 and current liabilities were \$1,984,142. We have agreed with certain Officers and Directors that deferred officers salaries and director consulting expenses accrued at December 31, 2010 will be settled by issuing 245,326 shares of restricted common stock rather than by cash payments. These deferred amounts included in current liabilities at December 31, 2010 total \$674,645. We believe that the introduction of several new products during the last four fiscal years, along with new and on-going customer relationships, will continue to generate additional revenues, which are required in order for us to achieve profitability. If these additional revenues are not achieved on a timely basis, we will be required and are prepared to implement further cost reduction measures, as necessary.

Contractual cash commitments for the fiscal years subsequent to December 31, 2010 are summarized as follows:

	2011	2012	Thereafter	Total
Operating Leases	\$ 27,641	\$ 7,976	\$ 388	\$ 36,005
Principal & Interest (1)	750,833			750,833
Totals	\$ 778,474	\$ 7,976	\$ 388	\$ 786,838

⁽¹⁾ This amount may be reduced to the extent the holders of the Senior Secured Convertible Notes elect to convert the principal on the Notes into our common stock.

We have contractual cash commitments related to open purchase orders for fiscal year 2011 of approximately \$104,074.

Trends and Uncertainties That May Affect Future Results

For the quarter ended December 31, 2010, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by \$166,820, and our operating loss for the quarter was \$316,022. As of December 31, 2010, we had \$99,588 in cash and cash equivalents. If our cash reserves decrease further, we will be required to seek additional funding for operations. We predict that we will not have sufficient cash to continue operations through

the next three months unless we receive additional funding for operations. We are actively pursuing several options to manage cash flow and raise capital including issuing debt, equity or entering into a strategic alliance. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities would result in additional dilution to our stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that could restrict our operations or finances. Financing may not be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms or achieve positive cash flow, we may not be able to continue to conduct operations, develop new products, grow market share, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements, any of which would negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition. If we are not successful in increasing our revenues, reducing our expenses or raising additional equity capital to generate sufficient cash flows to meet our obligations as they come due, we may not be able to continue as a going concern.

The \$600,000 principal and \$150,833 interest, as of December 31, 2010, on the 10% Senior Secured Convertible Notes are due February 25, 2011. This amount may be reduced to the extent the holders of the Notes elect to convert some or all of the principal on the Notes into our common stock. Should the holders not elect to convert all or a substantial amount of the balances due on the Notes into our common stock, we will not be able to generate enough cash from our operations to pay these balances in full on the specified due date. The holders of the Notes have granted us several extensions of the maturity date and we believe the holders will continue to work with us in that regard however there is no guarantee they will further extend the maturity date. Additionally, we may renegotiate terms with the holders or refinance this debt and, in either case, if available, the terms may be more burdensome. We are currently exploring the possibility of obtaining additional funding sources to satisfy this repayment obligation.

In the event the holders do not elect to convert all or a substantial amount of the balances due on the Notes into our common stock, or if we are not able to renegotiate the terms or obtain financing on terms satisfactory to us, or at all, we may ultimately be unable to meet our payment obligations under the Notes. In such event, all unpaid principal and interest will become immediately due and payable and the holders may pursue any other available remedies. The Notes are secured by a pledge of our assets pursuant to a pledge and security agreement and the security documents ancillary thereto, and in the event we are unable to meet our payment obligations, the holders would have the ability to require that we immediately pay all outstanding indebtedness, and we might not have sufficient assets to satisfy their demands. It is possible that in this event, we may be forced to seek protection under bankruptcy laws, which could harm our future operations and overall financial condition. Additionally, a debt default could significantly diminish the market value and marketability of our common stock.

During the last two quarters of 2008 and continuing through fiscal year 2010, we implemented certain cost containment plans which included focusing on a limited number of products and technologies expected to provide near term revenues, streamlining operations, workforce reductions and deferring certain development initiatives. These measures reduced our overhead expenses.

Going forward, we intend to focus our development efforts on products we believe offer the best prospects to increase our near-term revenues. An example beyond the new instruments mentioned above includes the lenses we developed for a new color Night Vision system. During the quarter ended December 31, 2009, we shipped first article pre-production lens systems. These are for use in the new color Night Vision system, and utilize an improved design that offers lower cost and lighter weight.

We expect our pattern of quarter-to-quarter revenue fluctuations to continue, due to the introductory stage of many of our products and the unpredictable timing of orders from customers and the size of those orders in relation to total revenues. Contingent on available funding, we intend to continue to develop and commercialize new products and technical innovations, in particular:

a new generation of endoscopes that incorporate Lenslock technology (patent pending);

- new components and instruments utilizing our new micro-precision lens technology (patent pending) for optical components and endoscopes under 1 mm;
- new custom medical products; and
- new night vision lenses.

However, if we do not have sufficient capital to develop and commercialize these products, our future revenues may decline if we cannot offer the innovative products the market is seeking. Over the past few years, we have implemented significant changes in new product and technology development by shifting the emphasis of research and development efforts from developing underlying technologies to commercialization of the applications of these new technologies. These have already been realized to some degree in a number of areas. Over the past two to three years our efforts have produced revenues from our new micro-precision lens products and new Lenslock endoscopes. Recent initiatives in the area of micro-precision lenses address specific customer opportunities in different medical specialty applications. In endoscope technologies, we continue new product offerings in our Lenslock product line. We have shipped over 600 ENT endoscopes with diameter of 2.7 mm that incorporate Lenslock technology. We recently

completed prototypes of our 4 mm Lenslock sinuscope, and 5 mm Lenslock laproscope, and are actively pursuing development of our new 4 mm Lenslock wide field arthroscope. We believe that our Lenslock technology has advantages over competitive products due to ease of manufacture and repair, superior image quality, significant cost effectiveness and quality of repair. We anticipate that further incorporating this technology into our endoscope product line will lead to increased sales.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

As a Smaller Reporting Company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and in Item 10(f)(1) of Regulation S-K, we are electing scaled disclosure reporting obligations and therefore are not required to provide the information requested by this Item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that the following disclosure controls and procedures were not effective

Segregation of Duties: As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, our management identified a control deficiency during the 2008 fiscal year because we lacked sufficient staff to segregate accounting duties. We believe the control deficiency resulted primarily because we have the equivalent of one and one-half persons performing all accounting-related on-site duties. As a result, we did not maintain adequate segregation of duties within our critical financial reporting applications, the related modules and financial reporting processes. This control deficiency could result in a misstatement of balance sheet and income statement accounts in our interim or annual consolidated financial statements that would not be detected. Accordingly, management has determined that this control deficiency constitutes a material weakness. No audit adjustments to our audited financial statements as of June 30, 2009 or 2010 were necessary as a result of this condition.

To address and remediate the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described above, beginning with the quarter ended September 30, 2008 and continuing through the quarter ended December 31, 2010, we instituted a procedure whereby our President, our Executive Vice President and other members of our Board of Directors perform a higher level review of the Quarterly and Annual Reports on Form 10-Q and Form 10-K prior to filing.

We believe that the step outlined above strengthens our internal control over financial reporting and mitigates the material weakness described above. As part of our 2010 assessment of internal control over financial reporting, our management has evaluated this additional control and has determined that it is operating effectively.

<u>Inventory Valuation</u>: As previously disclosed in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2009, we reported a material weakness with respect to the valuation of our inventories. Specifically, the amounts used to value our inventory at June 30, 2009 with respect to overhead rates and purchased items were often not consistent with the supporting documentation, due to year-to-year changes in overhead rates and costs of purchased items that were not properly reflected in inventory valuation. Accordingly, management had determined that this control deficiency constituted a material weakness as of June 30, 2009. No audit adjustments to our audited financial statements as of June 30, 2009 or 2010 were necessary as a result of this condition.

To address and remediate the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting described above, beginning in the quarter ended September 30, 2009 and continuing through the quarter ended December 31, 2010, we implemented procedures to improve our inventory controls and documentation surrounding inventory valuation for overhead rates, and performed procedures to ensure that the pricing of inventory items was consistent with the supporting documentation. No audit adjustments to our audited financial statements as of June 30, 2010 were necessary as a result of this condition. We believe that the step outlined above strengthens our internal control over financial reporting and mitigates the material weakness described above.

We intend to continue to remediate material weaknesses and enhance our internal controls but cannot guarantee that our efforts will result in remediation of our material weaknesses or that new issues will not be exposed in this process.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the second quarter of our fiscal year covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item	1.	Legal	Proce	edings.

We may be involved from time to time in ordinary litigation, negotiation and settlement matters that will not have a material effect on our operations or finances. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation against us or our officers and directors in their capacity as such that could have a material impact on our operations or finances.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Other than as described below, there have been no material changes from the risk factors as previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K in response to Item 1A. to Part 1 of Form 10-K.

As of December 31, 2010, we do not have sufficient cash to continue operations for the next three months and if we do not obtain funding for our operations, we may cease to exist as a going concern.

For the quarter ended December 31, 2010, our cash and cash equivalents decreased by \$166,820, and our operating loss for the quarter was \$316,022. As of December 31, 2010, we had \$99,588 in cash and cash equivalents. If our cash reserves decrease in the future, we will be required to seek additional funding for operations. We predict that we will not have sufficient cash to continue operations through the next three months unless we receive additional funding for operations. We are actively pursuing several options to manage cash flow and raise capital including issuing debt, equity or entering into a strategic alliance. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities would result in additional dilution to our stockholders, and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that could restrict our operations or finances. Financing may not be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms or achieve positive cash flow, we may not be able to continue to conduct operations, develop new products, grow market share, take advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressures or unanticipated requirements, any of which would negatively impact our business, operating results and financial condition. If we are not successful in increasing our revenues, reducing our expenses or raising additional equity capital to generate sufficient cash flows to meet our obligations as they come due, we may not be able to continue as a going concern.

Items 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

We did not issue any unregistered securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2010.

We purchased issued and outstanding shares of our common stock as follows:

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

		(a) Total number	(b) Average	(c) Total number of shares purchased as part of	(d) Maximum number (or approximate dollar value) of shares that may yet be
		of shares	price paid	publicly announced plans or	purchased under the plans or
Period		purchased	per share	programs	programs
12/1/20	10 12/31/2010	47,397(1)	\$0.01	0	0
12/1/20	12/01/2010	.,,0,,(1)	Ψ0.01	~	Ÿ

⁽¹⁾ We purchased 47,397 shares of common stock from Special Situations Fund III QP, L.P. in December 2010 in a private transaction for \$0.01 per share.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

As of December 31, 2010, we are not in default with respect to any indebtedness.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

We did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31, 2010.

Item 5. Other Information.

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

Exhibit	Description
2.1	Asset Purchase Agreement between the Company and Optometrics Corporation, dated January 18, 2008 (included as Exhibit 2.1 to the Form 8-K filed January 25, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference).
3.1	Articles of Organization of the Company, as amended (included as Exhibit 3.1 to the Form SB-2 filed March 16, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference).
3.2	Bylaws of Precision Optics Corporation incorporated herein by reference to the Company s 1991 Annual Report on Form 10-KSB.
3.3	Articles of Amendment, dated December 11, 2008 (included as Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed December 11, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference).
4.1	Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 17, 2000 (included as Exhibit 4.4 to the Form S-3 filed April 28, 2000 and incorporated herein by reference).
4.2	Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 30, 1998 (included as Exhibit 4.9 to the Form 10-KSB filed September 29, 1998 and incorporated herein by reference).
4.3	Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 5, 1999 (included as Exhibit 4.7 to the Form 10-KSB filed September 28, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference).

/FONT>

Interest income decreased \$2.7 million, or 49.4%, to \$2.8 million in 2002. The decrease in 2002 primarily relates to a decrease in average invested cash balances in 2002 as compared to 2001.

Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Viacom Stock and Derivatives

During 2000, the Company entered into a seven-year secured forward exchange contract with respect to 10.9 million shares of its Viacom stock investment. Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended. Components of the secured forward exchange contract are considered derivatives as defined by SFAS No. 133.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 133, the Company recorded a cumulative effect of an accounting change to record the derivatives associated with the secured forward exchange contract at fair value as of January 1, 2001, as discussed below. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded net pretax gains of \$86.5 million related to the increase in fair value of the derivatives associated with the secured forward exchange contract. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded net pretax losses of \$37.3 million related to the decrease in fair value of the Viacom Stock. For

Table of Contents

the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded net pretax gains of \$54.3 million related to the increase in fair value of the derivatives associated with the secured forward exchange contract. Additionally, the Company recorded a nonrecurring pretax gain of \$29.4 million on January 1, 2001, related to reclassifying its investment in Viacom stock from available-for-sale to trading as permitted by SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded net pretax losses of \$28.6 million related to the decrease in fair value of the Viacom stock subsequent to January 1, 2001.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses decreased \$1.5 million, or 56.3%, to \$1.2 million in 2002. During 2001, the indemnification period ended related to the sale of KTVT and the Company recognized a \$4.6 million gain.

Income Taxes

The Company s provision for income taxes was \$1.3 million in 2002 compared to an income tax benefit of \$9.1 million in 2001.

Discontinued Operations

The Company has reflected the following businesses as discontinued operations, consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 144. The results of operations, net of taxes (prior to their disposal where applicable), and the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities of these businesses have been reflected in the Company s consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS No. 144 for all periods presented.

WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). During the first quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). Subsequent to committing to a plan of disposal during the first quarter, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into an agreement to sell the assets primarily used in the operations of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM) to Cumulus in exchange for approximately \$62.5 million in cash. In connection with this agreement, the Company also entered into a local marketing agreement with Cumulus pursuant to which, from April 21, 2003 until the closing of the sale of the assets, the Company, for a fee, made available to Cumulus substantially all of the broadcast time on WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). In turn, Cumulus provided programming to be broadcast during such broadcast time and collected revenues from the advertising that it sold for broadcast during this programming time. On July 21, 2003, the Company finalized the sale of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM) for approximately \$62.5 million. At the time of the sale, net proceeds of approximately \$50 million were placed in an escrow account for completion of the Gaylord Texan. Concurrently, the Company also entered into a joint sales agreement with Cumulus for WSM-AM in exchange for \$2.5 million in cash. The Company will continue to own and operate WSM-AM, and, under the terms of the joint sales agreement with Cumulus, Cumulus will be responsible for all sales of commercial advertising on WSM-AM and provide certain sales promotion, billing and collection services relating to WSM-AM, all for a specified commission. The joint sales agreement has a term of five years.

Acuff-Rose Music Publishing. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of its Acuff-Rose Music Publishing entity. During the third quarter of 2002, the Company finalized the sale of the Acuff-Rose Music Publishing entity to Sony/ATV Music Publishing for approximately \$157.0 million in cash. The Company recognized a pretax gain of \$130.6 million during the third quarter of 2002 related to the sale in discontinued operations. The gain on the sale of Acuff-Rose Music Publishing is recorded in income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations. Proceeds of \$25.0 million were used to reduce the Company s outstanding indebtedness.

OKC Redhawks. During 2002, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of its ownership interests in the Redhawks, a minor league baseball team based in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma. Subsequent

25

Table of Contents

to September 30, 2003, the Company agreed to sell its interest in the Redhawks. The sale closed during November 2003.

Word Entertainment. During 2001, the Company committed to a plan to sell Word Entertainment. As a result of the decision to sell Word Entertainment, the Company reduced the carrying value of Word Entertainment to its estimated fair value by recognizing a pretax charge of \$30.4 million in discontinued operations during 2001. The estimated fair value of Word Entertainment s net assets was determined based upon ongoing negotiations with potential buyers. Related to the decision to sell Word Entertainment, a pretax restructuring charge of \$1.5 million was recorded in discontinued operations in 2001. The restructuring charge consisted of \$0.9 million related to lease termination costs and \$0.6 million related to severance costs. In addition, the Company recorded a reversal of \$0.1 million of restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. During the first quarter of 2002, the Company sold Word Entertainment s domestic operations to an affiliate of Warner Music Group for \$84.1 million in cash, subject to future purchase price adjustments. The Company recognized a pretax gain of \$0.5 million in discontinued operations during the first quarter of 2002 related to the sale of Word Entertainment. Proceeds from the sale of \$80.0 million were used to reduce the Company s outstanding indebtedness.

International Cable Networks. During the second quarter of 2001, the Company adopted a formal plan to dispose of its international cable networks. As part of this plan, the Company hired investment bankers to facilitate the disposition process, and formal communications with potentially interested parties began in July 2001. In an attempt to simplify the disposition process, in July 2001, the Company acquired an additional 25% ownership interest in its music networks in Argentina, increasing its ownership interest from 50% to 75%. In August 2001, the partnerships in Argentina finalized a pending transaction in which a third party acquired a 10% ownership interest in the companies in exchange for satellite, distribution and sales services, bringing the Company s interest to 67.5%.

In December 2001, the Company made the decision to cease funding of its cable networks in Asia and Brazil as well as its partnerships in Argentina if a sale had not been completed by February 28, 2002. At that time the Company recorded pretax restructuring charges of \$1.9 million consisting of \$1.0 million of severance and \$0.9 million of contract termination costs related to the networks. Also during 2001, the Company negotiated reductions in the contract termination costs with several vendors that resulted in a reversal of \$0.3 million of restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. Based on the status of the Company s efforts to sell its international cable networks at the end of 2001, the Company recorded pretax impairment and other charges of \$23.3 million during 2001. Included in this charge are the impairment of an investment in the two Argentina-based music channels totaling \$10.9 million, the impairment of fixed assets, including capital leases associated with certain transponders leased by the Company, of \$6.9 million, the impairment of a receivable of \$3.0 million from the Argentina-based channels, current assets of \$1.5 million, and intangible assets of \$1.0 million.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company finalized a transaction to sell certain assets of its Asia and Brazil networks, including the assignment of certain transponder leases. Also during the first quarter of 2002, the Company ceased operations based in Argentina. The transponder lease assignment requires the Company to guarantee lease payments in 2002 from the acquirer of these networks. As such, the Company recorded a lease liability for the amount of the assignee s portion of the transponder lease.

Businesses Sold to OPUBCO. During 2001, the Company sold five businesses (Pandora Films, Gaylord Films, Gaylord Sports Management, Gaylord Event Television and Gaylord Production Company) to affiliates of OPUBCO for \$22.0 million in cash and the assumption of debt of \$19.3 million. The Company recognized a pretax loss of \$1.7 million related to the sale in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. OPUBCO owns a minority interest in the Company. Three of the Company s directors are also directors of OPUBCO and voting trustees of a voting trust that controls OPUBCO. Additionally, those three directors collectively own a significant ownership interest in the Company.

26

Table of Contents

The following table reflects the results of operations of businesses accounted for as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 (amounts in thousands):

	2001	2002
REVENUES:		
Radio Operations	\$ 8,207	\$ 10,240
Acuff-Rose Music Publishing	14,764	7,654
Redhawks	6,122	6,289
Word Entertainment	115,677	2,594
International cable networks	5,025	744
Businesses sold to OPUBCO	2,195	
Other	609	
Total revenues	\$152,599	\$ 27,521
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS):		
Radio Operations	\$ 2,184	\$ 1,305
Acuff-Rose Music Publishing	2,119	933
Redhawks	363	841
Word Entertainment	(5,710)	(917)
International cable networks	(6,375)	(1,576)
Businesses sold to OPUBCO	(1,816)	
Other	(383)	
Impairment and other charges	(53,716)	
Restructuring charges	(2,959)	(20)
Total operating income (loss)	(66,293)	566
INTEREST EXPENSE	(797)	(81)
INTEREST INCOME	199	81
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES	(4,131)	135,442
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes	(71,022)	136,008
PROVISION (BENEFIT) FOR INCOME TAXES	(22,189)	50,251
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations	\$ (48,833)	\$ 85,757

27

Table of Contents

The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations at December 31 are comprised of (amounts in thousands):

	2001	2002
CURRENT ASSETS:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 3,889	\$ 1,812
Trade receivables, less allowance of \$5,132 and \$2,938,	Ψ 2,002	Ψ 1,012
respectively	29,990	1,954
Inventories	6,486	163
Prepaid expenses	10,333	97
Other current assets	891	69
Total current assets	51,589	4,095
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET OF ACCUMULATED	31,307	1,075
DEPRECIATION	19,497	5,157
GOODWILL	31,053	3,527
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET OF ACCUMULATED	,	,
AMORTIZATION	6,125	3,942
MUSIC AND FILM CATALOGS	26,274	
OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS	5,632	702
Total long-term assets	88,581	13,328
Total assets	\$140,170	\$17,423
CURRENT LIABILITIES:		
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 5,515	\$ 94
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	25,713	6,558
1 7		
Total current liabilities	31,228	6,652
LONG-TERM DEBT, NET OF CURRENT PORTION	31,220	0,032
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES	844	789
Total long-term liabilities	844	789
Total long-term habilities	044	767
Total liabilities	32,072	7,441
MINORITY INTEREST OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS	1,679	1,885
MINORITI INTEREST OF DISCONTINUED OF EXAMONS	1,079	1,005
TOTAL LIADH ITTEG AND MINODITY INTEREST OF	<u>-</u>	_
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MINORITY INTEREST OF	¢ 22.751	¢ 0.226
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS	\$ 33,751	\$ 9,326

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company completed its goodwill impairment test as required by SFAS No. 142. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the Company has reflected the pretax \$4.2 million impairment charge as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the amount of \$2.6 million, net of tax benefit of \$1.6 million, as of January 1, 2002 in the consolidated statements of operations.

On January 1, 2001, the Company recorded a gain of \$11.2 million, net of taxes of \$7.1 million, as a cumulative effect of an accounting change to record the derivatives associated with the secured forward exchange contract on its Viacom stock at fair value as of January 1, 2001, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133.

28

Table of Contents

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2000

Revenues

Total revenues decreased \$10.5 million, or 3.4%, to \$296.1 million in 2001. Excluding the revenues of businesses divested in 2000, including the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon, KOA Campground, Gaylord Digital and country music record label development (collectively, the 2000 Divested Businesses) from 2000, total revenues decreased \$1.3 million, or 0.4% in 2001.

Revenues in the Hospitality segment decreased \$8.5 million, or 3.6%, to \$228.7 million in 2001. Revenues of the Gaylord Opryland decreased \$7.9 million to \$222.0 million in 2001. Gaylord Opryland s occupancy rate decreased to 70.3% in 2001 compared to 75.9% in 2000. Revenue per available room (RevPAR) for the Gaylord Opryland decreased 7.1% to \$98.65 for 2001 compared to \$106.22 for 2000. This decrease was primarily attributable to the impact of a softer economy and decreased occupancy levels in the weeks following the September 11 terrorist attacks. The collection of a \$2.2 million cancellation fee in 2000 also adversely affects comparisons with the prior year period. Gaylord Opryland s average daily rate increased to \$140.33 in 2001 from \$140.03 in 2000.

Revenues in the Opry and Attractions Group segment decreased \$2.2 million, or 3.2%, to \$67.1 million in 2001. Excluding the revenues of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, revenues in the Opry and Attractions Group segment increased \$7.0 million, or 11.7% due to increased revenues of \$10.1 million at Corporate Magic, a company specializing in the production of creative events in the corporate entertainment marketplace that was acquired in March 2000. Revenues of the Grand Ole Opry increased \$1.4 million, to \$13.4 million in 2001. These increases in revenues were partially offset by decreased revenues of the General Jackson, which decreased \$1.5 million in 2001 as a result of an attendance decline of 16.3% partially offset by an increase in per capita spending of 16.3%.

Revenues in the Corporate and Other segment increased \$0.2 million to \$0.3 million in 2001.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses decreased \$98.3 million, or 22.5%, to \$339.3 million in 2001. Excluding impairment and other charges and restructuring charges, total operating expenses decreased \$26.2 million, or 7.5%, to \$322.8 million in 2001. Operating costs, as a percentage of revenues, decreased slightly to 68.0% during 2001 as compared to 68.5% during 2000. Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of revenues, decreased to 22.7% during 2001 as compared to 29.0% in 2000.

Operating costs decreased \$8.7 million, or 4.2%, to \$201.3 million in 2001. Excluding the operating costs of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, operating costs increased \$8.9 million, or 4.6% in 2001.

Operating costs in the Hospitality segment increased \$1.5 million, or 1.1%, to \$139.9 million in 2001 primarily as a result of increased operating costs at Gaylord Opryland of \$1.7 million. During 2000, the Company recorded certain unusual operating costs associated primarily with the settlement of tax and utility contingencies related to prior years totaling \$5.0 million in the Hospitality segment, \$4.5 million of which was related to Gaylord Opryland. Excluding these nonrecurring costs, operating costs at Gaylord Opryland increased \$6.7 million, or 5.2% due primarily to costs associated with various new shows and exhibits at the hotel in 2001.

Operating costs in the Opry and Attractions Group segment decreased \$11.1 million, or 18.0%, to \$50.7 million in 2001. Excluding the operating costs of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, operating costs in the Opry and Attractions Group segment increased \$6.4 million, or 14.6%, in 2001. The operating costs of Corporate Magic increased \$9.8 million in 2001 as compared to 2000 subsequent to its acquisition in March 2000 due to the fact that a large share of its annual business occurs in the first quarter of each year. This increase was partially offset by a decrease in operating costs of the Acuff Theater, a venue for concerts and theatrical performances, which had reduced operating costs in 2001 as compared to 2000 of \$1.2 million due to decreased utilization of this venue.

29

Table of Contents

The operating costs in the Corporate and Other segment increased \$0.9 million in 2001 as compared to 2000 due to increased overhead and administrative costs related to the management of the Company s hotels.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased \$21.8 million, or 24.5%, to \$67.2 million in 2001. Excluding the selling, general and administrative expenses of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased \$3.0 million, or 4.2%, in 2001.

Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Hospitality segment remained constant at \$29.0 million for 2001 and 2000. Selling, general and administrative expenses at the Gaylord Opryland increased \$0.1 million, to \$27.6 million in 2001. Selling and promotion expense at the Gaylord Opryland increased \$1.9 million due to increased advertising offset by lower general and administrative costs at the Gaylord Opryland of \$1.8 million due to cost controls.

Selling, general and administrative expenses in the Opry and Attractions Group segment decreased \$22.8 million, or 60.1%, to \$15.1 million in 2001. Excluding the selling, general and administrative expenses of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, selling, general and administrative expenses in the Opry and Attractions Group segment decreased \$3.9 million, or 20.6%, in 2001. The decrease in 2001 is primarily attributable to nonrecurring bad debt expense recognized in 2000 of \$2.4 million related to the Company s live entertainment business. In addition, the selling, general and administrative expenses of the Ryman Auditorium decreased \$1.2 million in 2001 as compared to 2000 due to reductions in marketing expenses, fewer shows being produced in 2001 compared to 2000 and a shift to more co-produced shows in 2001 compared to 2000.

Corporate selling, general and administrative expenses, consisting primarily of senior management salaries and benefits, legal, human resources, accounting, and other administrative costs increased \$0.9 million, or 4.3%, to \$23.1 million in 2001. The increase is primarily related to attracting new key management personnel needed as a result of the 2000 Strategic Assessment.

Preopening costs increased \$10.6 million to \$15.9 million in 2001 related to the Company s hotel development activities in Florida and Texas. In accordance with AICPA SOP 98-5, Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up Activities, the Company expenses the costs associated with start-up activities and organization costs as incurred.

Impairment and Other Charges

The Company recognized pretax impairment and other charges as a result of the 2001 and 2000 Strategic Assessments. The components of these charges for the years ended December 31 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

	2000	2001
Programming, film and other content	\$ 7,410	\$ 6,858
Gaylord Digital and other technology investments	48,127	4,576
Property and equipment	3,397	2,828
Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon	15,854	
Other	872	
Total impairment and other charges	\$75,660	\$14,262

Additional impairment and other charges of \$29.9 million during 2000 are included in discontinued operations.

2001 Impairment and Other Charges

The Company began production of an IMAX movie during 2000 to portray the history of country music. As a result of the 2001 Strategic Assessment, the carrying value of the IMAX film asset was

Table of Contents

reevaluated on the basis of its estimated future cash flows resulting in an impairment charge of \$6.9 million. At December 31, 2000, the Company held a minority investment in a technology start-up business. During 2001, the unfavorable environment for technology businesses created difficulty for this business to obtain adequate capital to execute its business plan and, subsequently, the Company was notified that this technology business had been unsuccessful in arranging financing, resulting in an impairment charge of \$4.6 million. The Company also recorded an impairment charge related to idle real estate of \$2.0 million during 2001 based upon an assessment of the value of the property. The Company sold this idle real estate during the second quarter of 2002. Proceeds from the sale approximated the carrying value of the property. In addition, the Company recorded an impairment charge for other idle property and equipment totaling \$0.8 million during 2001 primarily due to the consolidation of offices resulting from personnel reductions.

2000 Impairment and Other Charges

The Company s 2000 Strategic Assessment of its programming, film and other content assets resulted in pretax impairment and other charges of \$7.4 million based upon the projected cash flows for these assets. This charge included investments of \$5.1 million, other receivables of \$2.1 million and music and film catalogs of \$0.2 million.

The Company closed Gaylord Digital, its Internet-related business in 2000. During 1999 and 2000, Gaylord Digital was unable to produce the operating results initially anticipated and required an extensive amount of capital to fund its operating losses, investments and technology infrastructure. As a result of the closing, the Company recorded a pretax charge of \$48.1 million in 2000 to reduce the carrying value of Gaylord Digital s assets to their fair value based upon estimated selling prices. The Gaylord Digital charge included the write-down of intangible assets of \$25.8 million, property and equipment (including software) of \$14.8 million, investments of \$7.0 million and other assets of \$0.6 million. The operating results of Gaylord Digital are included in continuing operations. Excluding the effect of the impairment and other charges, Gaylord Digital had revenues of \$3.9 million and operating losses of \$27.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

During the course of conducting the 2000 Strategic Assessment, other property and equipment of the Company were reviewed to determine whether the change in the Company s strategic direction resulted in additional impaired assets. This review indicated that certain property and equipment would not be recovered by projected cash flows. The Company recorded pretax impairment and other charges related to its property and equipment of \$3.4 million. These charges included property and equipment write-downs in the Hospitality segment of \$1.4 million, in the Opry and Attractions Group segment of \$0.5 million and in the Corporate and Other segment of \$1.5 million.

During November 2000, the Company ceased the operations of the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon. Walt Disney World® Resort paid the Company approximately \$1.8 million for the net assets of the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon and released the Company from its operating lease for the Wildhorse Saloon location. As a result of this divestiture, the Company recorded pretax charges of \$15.9 million to reflect the impairment and other charges related to the divestiture. The Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon charges included the write-off of equipment of \$9.4 million, intangible assets of \$8.1 million and other working capital items of \$0.1 million offset by the \$1.8 million of proceeds received from Disney. The operating results of the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon are included in continuing operations. Excluding the effect of the impairment and other charges, the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon had revenues of \$4.4 million and operating losses of \$1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

Restructuring Charges

During 2001, the Company recognized pretax restructuring charges from continuing operations of \$5.8 million related to streamlining operations and reducing layers of management. The Company recognized additional pretax restructuring charges from discontinued operations of \$3.0 million in 2001. These restructuring charges were recorded in accordance with EITF No. 94-3. The restructuring costs

31

Table of Contents

from continuing operations consisted of \$4.7 million related to severance and other employee benefits and \$1.1 million related to contract termination costs, offset by the reversal of restructuring charges recorded in 2000 of \$3.7 million primarily related to negotiated reductions in certain contract termination costs. The restructuring costs from discontinued operations consist of \$1.6 million related to severance and other employee benefits and \$1.8 million related to contract termination costs offset by the reversal of restructuring charges recorded in 2000 of \$0.4 million. The 2001 restructuring charges primarily resulted from the Company s strategic decisions to exit certain businesses and reduce corporate overhead and administrative costs. The 2001 restructuring plan resulted in the termination or notification of pending termination of approximately 150 employees. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded cash payments of \$4.4 million against the 2001 restructuring accrual, all of which relate to continuing operations. The remaining balance of the 2001 restructuring accrual related to continuing operations at December 31, 2002 of \$0.4 million is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company expects the remaining balances of the restructuring accruals for both continuing and discontinued operations to be paid in 2003.

As part of the Company s 2000 strategic assessment, the Company recognized pretax restructuring charges of \$13.2 million related to continuing operations during 2000, in accordance with EITF No. 94-3. Additional restructuring charges of \$3.2 million during 2000 were included in discontinued operations. Restructuring charges related to continuing operations consist of contract termination costs of \$8.0 million to exit specific activities and employee severance and related costs of \$5.4 million offset by the reversal of the remaining restructuring accrual from the restructuring charges recorded in 1999 of \$0.2 million. The 2000 restructuring charges relate to the Company s strategic decisions to exit certain lines of business, primarily businesses included in the Company s former music, media and entertainment segment, and to implement its 2000 strategic plan. As part of the Company s 2000 restructuring plan, approximately 375 employees were terminated or were informed of their pending termination. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company entered into a sublease that reduced the liability the Company was originally required to pay, and the Company reversed \$0.1 million of the 2000 restructuring charge related to the reduction in required payments. During 2001, the Company negotiated reductions in certain contract termination costs, which allowed the reversal of \$3.7 million of the restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded cash payments of \$9.3 million against the 2000 restructuring accrual related to continuing operations. The remaining balance of the 2000 restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002 of \$0.3 million, from continuing operations, is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, which the Company expects to be paid during 2003.

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense decreased \$0.6 million, or 1.8%, to \$34.7 million in 2001. Excluding the depreciation of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, depreciation expense increased \$0.8 million, or 2.3%, in 2001. The increase is primarily attributable to increased depreciation expense at Gaylord Opryland of \$0.9 million related to capital expenditures.

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense decreased \$5.6 million in 2001 primarily due to the divestiture of Gaylord Digital. Amortization expense of Gaylord Digital was zero and \$6.1 million during 2001 and 2000, respectively. Amortization of software increased \$0.6 million during 2001 primarily at Gaylord Opryland and the Corporate and Other segment.

Operating Income (Loss)

Total operating loss decreased \$87.8 million to an operating loss of \$43.2 million during 2001. Excluding the operating losses of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, as well as impairment and other charges and restructuring charges from both periods, total operating loss increased \$19.6 million to an operating loss of \$26.8 million in 2001.

32

Table of Contents

Hospitality segment operating income decreased \$11.2 million to \$34.3 million in 2001 as a result of decreased operating income of Gaylord Opryland. Excluding the operating losses of the 2000 Divested Businesses from 2000, the operating loss of the Opry and Attractions Group segment decreased \$4.2 million to an operating loss of \$5.0 million in 2001 primarily as a result of decreased operating losses of the Acuff Theater, Corporate Magic and the Ryman Auditorium. The operating loss of the Corporate and Other segment increased \$1.9 million to an operating loss of \$40.1 million in 2001.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased \$9.1 million to \$39.4 million in 2001, net of capitalized interest of \$18.8 million, including \$16.4 million of capitalized interest related to Gaylord Palms. The Company no longer capitalized interest on Gaylord Palms subsequent to its opening date in January 2002. The increase in 2001 interest expense is primarily attributable to higher average borrowing levels including construction-related financing related to Gaylord Palms and the new Gaylord Texan in Grapevine, Texas, the secured forward exchange contract entered into in May 2000 and the amortization of deferred costs related to these financing activities. The Company s weighted average interest rate on its borrowings, including the interest expense associated with the secured forward exchange contract, was 6.3% in 2001 as compared to 6.6% in 2000.

Interest Income

Interest income increased \$1.5 million to \$5.6 million in 2001. The increase in 2001 primarily relates to an increase in interest income from invested cash balances.

Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Viacom Stock and Derivatives

The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001. In connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 133, as amended, the Company recorded a gain of \$11.2 million, net of taxes of \$7.1 million, as a cumulative effect of an accounting change to record the derivatives associated with the secured forward exchange contract at fair value effective January 1, 2001. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded net pretax gains of \$54.3 million related to the increase in fair value of the derivatives associated with the secured forward exchange contract. Additionally, the Company recorded a nonrecurring pretax gain of \$29.4 million on January 1, 2001, related to reclassifying its investment in Viacom stock from available-for-sale to trading as defined by SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded net pretax losses of \$28.6 million related to the decrease in fair value of the Viacom stock subsequent to January 1, 2001.

Other Gains and Losses

During 2001, the indemnification period related to the Company s 1999 disposition of television station KTVT in Dallas-Fort Worth ended, resulting in the recognition of a pretax gain of \$4.6 million related to the reversal of previously recorded contingent liabilities.

During 2001 and 2000, the Company recorded its share of equity losses of \$3.9 million and \$2.0 million, respectively, in the Nashville Predators. During 2000, the Company sold its KOA Campground located near Gaylord Opryland for \$2.0 million in cash. The Company recognized a pretax loss on the sale of \$3.2 million.

Income Taxes

The Company s benefit for income taxes was \$9.1 million in 2001 compared to an income tax benefit of \$52.3 million in 2000.

33

Table of Contents

Discontinued Operations

The Company has reflected the following businesses as discontinued operations, consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 144. The results of operations, net of taxes, (prior to their disposal where applicable) and the estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities of these businesses have been reflected in the Company s consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS No. 144 for all periods presented.

WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). During the first quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of the Radio Operations.

Acuff-Rose Music Publishing. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of its Acuff-Rose Music Publishing entity.

OKC Redhawks. During 2002, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of its ownership interests in the Redhawks, a minor league baseball team based in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

Word Entertainment. During 2001, the Company committed to a plan to sell Word Entertainment. As a result of the decision to sell Word Entertainment, the Company reduced the carrying value of Word Entertainment to its estimated fair value by recognizing a pretax charge of \$30.4 million in discontinued operations during 2001. The estimated fair value of Word Entertainment s net assets was determined based upon ongoing negotiations with potential buyers. Related to the decision to sell Word Entertainment, a pretax restructuring charge of \$1.5 million was recorded in discontinued operations in 2001. The restructuring charge consisted of \$0.9 million related to lease termination costs and \$0.6 million related to severance costs. In addition, the Company recorded a reversal of \$0.1 million of restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. During the first quarter of 2002, the Company sold Word Entertainment s domestic operations to an affiliate of Warner Music Group for \$84.1 million in cash, subject to future purchase price adjustments.

International Cable Networks. During the second quarter of 2001, the Company adopted a formal plan to dispose of its international cable networks. As part of this plan, the Company hired investment bankers to facilitate the disposition process, and formal communications with potentially interested parties began in July 2001. In an attempt to simplify the disposition process, in July 2001, the Company acquired an additional 25% ownership interest in its music networks in Argentina, increasing its ownership interest from 50% to 75%. In August 2001, the partnerships in Argentina finalized a pending transaction in which a third party acquired a 10% ownership interest in the companies in exchange for satellite, distribution and sales services, bringing the Company s interest to 67.5%.

In December 2001, the Company made the decision to cease funding of its cable networks in Asia and Brazil as well as its partnerships in Argentina if a sale had not been completed by February 28, 2002. At that time the Company recorded pretax restructuring charges of \$1.9 million consisting of \$1.0 million of severance and \$0.9 million of contract termination costs related to the networks. Also during 2001, the Company negotiated reductions in the contract termination costs with several vendors that resulted in a reversal of \$0.3 million of restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. Based on the status of the Company s efforts to sell its international cable networks at the end of 2001, the Company recorded pretax impairment and other charges of \$23.3 million during 2001. Included in this charge are the impairment of an investment in the two Argentina-based music channels totaling \$10.9 million, the impairment of fixed assets, including capital leases associated with certain transponders leased by the Company, of \$6.9 million, the impairment of a receivable of \$3.0 million from the Argentina-based channels, current assets of \$1.5 million, and intangible assets of \$1.0 million.

Businesses Sold to OPUBCO. During 2001, the Company sold five businesses (Pandora Films, Gaylord Films, Gaylord Sports Management, Gaylord Event Television and Gaylord Production Company) to affiliates of OPUBCO for \$22.0 million in cash and the assumption of debt of \$19.3 million. The Company recognized a pretax loss of \$1.7 million related to the sale in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. OPUBCO owns a minority interest in the Company. Three of the Company s directors are also directors of OPUBCO and voting trustees of a voting trust that

34

Table of Contents

controls OPUBCO. Additionally, those three directors collectively own a significant ownership interest in the Company.

The following table reflects the results of operations of businesses accounted for as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 (amounts in thousands):

	2000	2001
REVENUES:		
Radio operations	\$ 8,865	\$ 8,207
Acuff-Rose Music Publishing	14,100	14,764
Redhawks	5,890	6,122
Word Entertainment	130,706	115,677
International cable networks	6,606	5,025
Businesses sold to OPUBCO	39,706	2,195
Other	1,900	609
Total revenues	\$207,773	\$152,599
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS):		
Radio operations	\$ 3,200	\$ 2,184
Acuff-Rose Music Publishing	1,688	2,119
Redhawks	169	363
Word Entertainment	(15,241)	(5,710)
International cable networks	(9,655)	(6,375)
Businesses sold to OPUBCO	(8,240)	(1,816)
Other	(144)	(383)
Impairment and other charges	(29,878)	(53,716)
Restructuring charges	(3,241)	(2,959)
Total operating loss	(61,342)	(66,293)
INTEREST EXPENSE	(1,322)	(797)
INTEREST INCOME	683	199
OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES	(4,419)	(4,131)
Loss before benefit for income taxes	(66,400)	(71,022)
BENEFIT FOR INCOME TAXES	(18,800)	(22,189)
Net loss from discontinued operations	\$ (47,600)	\$ (48,833)
Tet 1055 from discontinued operations	φ (+ 7,000)	φ (1 0,0 <i>33)</i>

Cumulative Effect of Accounting Change

On January 1, 2001, the Company recorded a gain of \$11.2 million, net of taxes of \$7.1 million, as a cumulative effect of an accounting change to record the derivatives associated with the secured forward exchange contract on its Viacom stock at fair value as of January 1, 2001, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Net cash flows provided by operating activities totaled \$47.0 million and \$63.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The decrease in the total provided by operating

Table of Contents

activities was primarily related to a significant income tax refund received in 2002. Net cash flows from investing activities was a net use of \$110.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2003, and was a net source of \$157.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The decrease was primarily attributed to the sale of Word during the first quarter of 2002 and increased levels of capital spending related to the Gaylord Texan. The decrease in investing activities was also attributed to the sale of the Company s Opry Mills investment during 2002. Net cash flows from financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 was a use of \$10.3 million compared to a use of \$63.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2002. The change in financing activities was primarily due to the Company s 2003 Loans as discussed below.

Indebtedness

2003 Loans

In this liquidity section, we use the term 2003 Loans to describe our 2003 Florida/Texas senior secured credit facility, which was repaid with the proceeds of our outstanding 8% senior notes due 2013 and replaced by our new revolving credit facility in November 2003. During May of 2003, the Company finalized a \$225 million credit facility (the 2003 Loans) with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Bank of America, N.A., CIBC Inc. and a syndicate of other lenders. The 2003 Loans consisted of a \$25 million senior revolving facility, a \$150 million senior term loan and a \$50 million subordinated term loan. The 2003 Loans were due in 2006. The senior loan bore interest of LIBOR plus 3.5%. The subordinated loan bore interest of LIBOR plus 8.0%. The 2003 Loans were secured by the Gaylord Palms assets and the Gaylord Texan. At the time of closing the 2003 Loans, the Company engaged LIBOR interest rate swaps which fixed the LIBOR rates of the 2003 Loans at 1.48% in year one and 2.09% in year two. The interest rate swaps related to the 2003 Loans are discussed in more detail in Note 7. The Company was required to pay a commitment fee equal to 0.5% per year of the average daily unused portion of the 2003 Loans. At the end of the third quarter of 2003, the Company had 100% borrowing capacity of the \$25 million revolver. Proceeds of the 2003 Loans were used to pay off the Term Loan of \$60 million as discussed below and the remaining net proceeds of approximately \$134 million were deposited into an escrow account for the completion of the Construction of the Gaylord Texan. At September 30, 2003 the unamortized balances of the 2003 Loans deferred financing costs were \$2.6 million in current assets and \$4.3 million in long-term assets. The provisions of the 2003 Loans contained covenants and restrictions including compliance with certain financial covenants, restrictions on additional indebtedness, escrowed cash balances, as well as other customary restrictions. As of September 30, 2003, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the 2003 loans.

Term Loan

During 2001, the Company entered into a three-year delayed-draw senior term loan (the Term Loan) of up to \$210.0 million with Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown Inc., Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. and CIBC World Markets Corp. (collectively the Banks). During May 2003, the Company used \$60 million of the proceeds from the 2003 Loans to pay off the Term Loan. Concurrent with the payoff of the Term Loan, the Company expensed the remaining, unamortized deferred financing costs of \$1.5 million related to the Term Loan. The \$1.5 million is recorded as interest expense in the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of operations. Proceeds of the Term Loan were used to finance the construction of Gaylord Palms and the initial construction phases of the Gaylord Texan as well as for general operating purposes. The Term Loan was primarily secured by the Company s ground lease interest in Gaylord Palms.

During the first three months of 2002, the Company sold Word s domestic operations, which required a prepayment on the Term Loan in the amount of \$80.0 million. As required by the Term Loan, the Company used \$15.9 million of the net cash proceeds, as defined under the Term Loan agreement, received from the 2002 sale of the Opry Mills investment to reduce the outstanding balance of the Term Loan. In addition, the Company used \$25.0 million of the net cash proceeds, as defined under the Term Loan agreement, received from the 2002 sale of Acuff-Rose Music Publishing to further reduce the

36

Table of Contents

outstanding balance of the Term Loan. Excluding the payoff amount of \$60 million discussed above, the Company made principal payments of approximately \$0 and \$4.1 million during 2003 and 2002, respectively, under the Term Loan. Net borrowings under the Term Loan for 2003 and 2002 were \$0 and \$85.0 million, respectively. As of September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002, the Company had outstanding borrowings of \$0 million and \$60 million, respectively, under the Term Loan.

The terms of the Term Loan required the Company to purchase an interest rate instrument which capped the interest rate paid by the Company. This instrument expired in the fourth quarter of 2002. Due to the expiration of the interest rate instrument, the Company was out of compliance with the terms of the Term Loan. Subsequent to December 31, 2002, the Company obtained a waiver from the lenders whereby this event of non-compliance was waived as of December 31, 2002 and also removed the requirement to maintain such instruments for the remaining term of the Term Loan.

Senior Loan and Mezzanine Loan

In 2001, the Company, through wholly owned subsidiaries, entered into two loan agreements, a \$275.0 million senior loan (the Senior Loan) and a \$100.0 million mezzanine loan (the Mezzanine Loan) (collectively, the Nashville Hotel Loans) with affiliates of Merrill Lynch & Company acting as principal. The Senior Loan is secured by a first mortgage lien on the assets of Gaylord Opryland Resort and Convention Center (Gaylord Opryland) and is due in March 2004. Amounts outstanding under the Senior Loan bear interest at one-month LIBOR plus approximately 1.02%. The Mezzanine Loan, which was repaid and terminated using proceeds of the outstanding notes, was secured by the equity interest in the wholly-owned subsidiary that owns Gaylord Opryland, was due in April 2004 and bore interest at one-month LIBOR plus 6.0%. At the Company s option, the Senior Loan may be extended for two additional one-year terms beyond its scheduled maturity, subject to Gaylord Opryland meeting certain financial ratios and other criteria. The Company currently anticipates meeting the financial ratios and other criteria and exercising the option to extend the Senior Loan. However, based on the Company s projections and estimates at September 30, 2003, the Company did not anticipate meeting the financial ratios to extend the Mezzanine Loan. Therefore, the Company has recorded the outstanding balance of the Mezzanine Loan of \$66 million as current portion of long-term debt in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2003. The Nashville Hotel Loans required monthly principal payments of \$0.7 million during their three-year terms in addition to monthly interest payments. The terms of the Senior Loan and the Mezzanine Loan required the Company to purchase interest rate hedges in notional amounts equal to the outstanding balances of the Senior Loan and the Mezzanine Loan in order to protect against adverse changes in one-month LIBOR. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company had purchased instruments that cap its exposure to one-month LIBOR at 7.5%. The Company used \$235.0 million of the proceeds from the Nashville Hotel Loans to refinance the remaining outstanding portion of an interim loan obtained from Merrill Lynch Mortgage Capital, Inc. in 2000 (the Interim Loan). At closing, the Company was required to escrow certain amounts, including \$20.0 million related to future renovations and related capital expenditures at Gaylord Opryland. The net proceeds from the Nashville Hotel Loans after refinancing of the Interim Loan and paying required escrows and fees were approximately \$97.6 million. At September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2002, the unamortized balance of the deferred financing costs related to the Nashville Hotel Loans was \$2.8 million and \$7.3 million, respectively. The weighted average interest rates for the Senior Loan for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, including amortization of deferred financing costs, were 4.3% and 4.5%, respectively. The weighted average interest rates for the Mezzanine Loan for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, including amortization of deferred financing costs, were 10.7% and 10.3%, respectively.

The terms of the Nashville Hotel Loans require that the Company maintain certain escrowed cash balances and comply with certain financial covenants, and impose limits on transactions with affiliates and indebtedness. The financial covenants under the Nashville Hotel Loans are structured such that noncompliance at one level triggers certain cash management restrictions and noncompliance at a second level results in an event of default. Based upon the financial covenant calculations at December 31, 2002, the cash management restrictions were in effect which requires that all excess cash flows, as defined, be

37

Table of Contents

escrowed and may be used to repay principal amounts owed on the Senior Loan. During 2002, the Company negotiated certain revisions to the financial covenants under the Nashville Hotel Loans and the Term Loan. In the first quarter of 2003, the noncompliance level which triggered cash management restrictions was cured and the cash management restrictions were lifted. As of September 30, 2003, the Company is in compliance with the financial covenants related to cash management restrictions. There can be no assurance that the Company will remain in compliance with the covenants under the Nashville Hotel Loans. Any event of noncompliance that results in an event of default under the Nashville Hotel Loans would enable the lenders to demand payment of all outstanding amounts, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Completion of Senior Notes Offering

On November 12, 2003, the Company completed its offering of \$350 million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes due 2013 (the Senior Notes) in an institutional private placement, increased from the \$225 million proposed offering previously announced. The interest rate of the Senior Notes is 8%, although the Company has entered into interest rate swaps with respect to \$125 million principal amount of the Senior Notes which results in an effective interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.95% with respect to that portion of the Senior Notes. The Senior Notes, which mature on November 15, 2013, bear interest semi-annually in cash in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, starting on May 15, 2004. The Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time on or after November 15, 2008 at a designated redemption amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the Senior Notes before November 15, 2006 with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings. The Senior Notes rank equally in right of payment with the Company s other unsecured unsubordinated debt, but are effectively subordinated to all of the Company s secured debt to the extent of the assets securing such debt. The Senior Notes are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by each of the Company s subsidiaries that was a borrower or guarantor under the 2003 Loans, and as of November 2003, of the new revolving credit facility. The net proceeds from the offering of the Senior Notes, together with the Company s cash on hand, were used as follows:

\$275.6 million was used to repay the \$150 million senior term loan portion and the \$50 million subordinated term loan portion of the 2003 Loans, as well as the remaining \$66 million of the Company s \$100 million Mezzanine Loan and to pay certain estimated fees and expenses related to the ResortQuest acquisition; and

\$79.2 million was placed in escrow pending consummation of the ResortQuest acquisition, at which time that amount was used, together with available cash, to repay ResortQuest s senior notes and its credit facility.

Amendment to 2003 Loans

In connection with the offering of the Senior Notes and the ResortQuest acquisition, on November 12, 2003 the Company amended the 2003 Loans to, among other things, permit the ResortQuest acquisition and the issuance of the Senior Notes, maintain the \$25.0 million revolving credit facility portion of the 2003 Loans, to repay and eliminate the \$150 million senior term loan portion and the \$50 million subordinated term loan portion of the 2003 Loans and make certain other amendments to the 2003 Loans.

New Revolving Credit Facility

On November 20, 2003, we entered into a new \$65.0 million revolving credit facility, which has been increased to \$100.0 million. The new revolving credit facility, which replaced the revolving credit portion under the 2003 Florida/Texas senior secured credit facility, matures in May 2006 and borrowings thereunder bear interest at a rate of either LIBOR plus 3.50% or the lending banks base rate plus 2.25%. The new revolving credit facility is guaranteed by our subsidiaries that were guarantors or borrowers under our 2003 Florida/Texas senior secured credit facility and is secured by a leasehold mortgage on the

38

Table of Contents

Gaylord Palms Resort & Convention Center. The new revolving credit facility requires us to achieve substantial completion and initial opening of our Gaylord Texan Resort & Convention Center by June 30, 2004. The new revolving credit facility was arranged by Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC.

On November 20, 2003, the Company acquired ResortQuest in a tax-free stock-for-stock merger. ResortQuest, which is based in Destin, Florida, is one of the largest vacation rental property managers in the United States. ResortQuest will continue to operate as a separate brand led by its existing senior management team. Under the terms of the definitive merger agreement, the ResortQuest stockholders received 0.275 shares of Gaylord common stock for each outstanding share of ResortQuest common stock.

Significant Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations as of September 30, 2003, including long-term debt and operating lease commitments:

Contractual Obligations	Total Amounts Committed	Less than 1 year	1-2 years	3-4 years	Over 4 years
		(In thousands)		
Long-term debt	\$ 467,182	\$ 74,004	\$18,004	\$375,174	\$
Capital leases	1,127	613	237	252	25
Construction commitments	130,539	115,406	11,483	3,650	
Arena naming rights	58,950	2,492	5,364	5,913	45,181
Operating leases	701,291	5,056	4,810	7,466	683,959
Other	4,828	322	644	644	3,218
Total contractual obligations	\$1,363,917	\$197,893	\$40,542	\$393,099	\$732,383

The total operating lease amount of \$701.3 million above includes the 75-year operating lease agreement the Company entered into during 1999 for 65.3 acres of land located in Osceola County, Florida where Gaylord Palms is located. At the expiration of the secured foreign exchange contract relating to the Viacom Stock owned by the Company which is scheduled for May 2007, the Company will be required to pay the deferred taxes relating thereto. A complete description of the secured foreign exchange contract and this deferred tax liability is contained in Notes 10 and 13 to the Company s Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2002 included herewith.

Capital Expenditures

The Company currently projects capital expenditures for the twelve months of 2003 to total approximately \$230.5 million, which includes continuing construction costs at the new Gaylord Texan of approximately \$207.8 million, approximately \$2.0 million related to the possible development of a new Gaylord hotel in Prince George s County, Maryland and approximately \$12.0 million related to Gaylord Opryland. In addition, the Company anticipates approximately \$8.6 million of capital expenditures related to the Grand Ole Opry. The Company s capital expenditures for continuing operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 were \$170.3 million.

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company announced that the Gaylord Texan located in Grapevine, Texas near the Dallas/Fort Worth airport, is projected to open in April 2004, two months earlier than previously announced.

Newly Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146 replaces EITF No. 94-3. SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred, whereas EITF No. 94-3 had recognized the liability at the commitment date to an exit plan. The Company is

Table of Contents

required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 146 effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 is not expected to have any significant impact on previously reported costs.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide two additional methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. This statement also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require certain disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company adopted the amended provisions of SFAS No. 148 on December 31, 2002 and the information contained in this report reflects the disclosure requirements of the new pronouncement. The Company will continue to account for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25.

40

Table of Contents

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

	Page
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and for the Years Ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000	
Report of Independent Auditors	42
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years ended December 31,	
2002, 2001 and 2000	43
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001	44
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years ended December 31,	
2002, 2001 and 2000	45
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity for the Years ended	
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000	46
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	47

41

Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders

Gaylord Entertainment Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Gaylord Entertainment Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, and stockholders equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Gaylord Entertainment Company and subsidiaries at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 1 and elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and intangible assets in 2002 and derivative financial instruments and the disposition of long-lived assets in 2001.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Nashville, Tennessee September 15, 2003 (except for Notes 21 and 23, as to which the date is November 20, 2003)

42

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

	2002	2001	2000
		(Amounts in thousand	,
Revenues	\$405,252	\$296,066	\$ 306,607
Operating expenses:			
Operating costs	254,583	201,299	210,018
Selling, general and administrative	108,732	67,212	89,052
Preopening costs	8,913	15,927	5,278
Gain on sale of assets	(30,529)		
Impairment and other charges		14,262	75,660
Restructuring charges	(17)	2,182	12,952
Depreciation	52,694	34,738	35,378
Amortization	3,786	3,667	9,281
Operating income (loss)	7,090	(43,221)	(131,012)
Interest expense, net of amounts capitalized	(46,960)	(39,365)	(30,307)
Interest income	2,808	5,554	4,046
Unrealized gain (loss) on Viacom stock	(37,300)	782	
Unrealized gain on derivatives	86,476	54,282	
Other gains and losses	1,163	2,661	(3,514)
Income (loss) before provision (benefit) for income taxes, discontinued operations and cumulative effect of			
accounting change	13,277	(19,307)	(160,787)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	1,318	(9,142)	(52,331)
Income (loss) from continuing operations before discontinued operations and cumulative effect of			
accounting change	11,959	(10,165)	(108,456)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	85,757	(48,833)	(47,600)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes	(2,572)	11,202	
Net income (loss)	\$ 95,144	\$ (47,796)	\$(156,056)
Income (loss) per share:			
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 0.36	\$ (0.30)	\$ (3.25)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	2.54	(1.45)	(1.42)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes	(0.08)	0.33	(1.42)
cumulative effect of accounting change, not of taxes	(0.00)		
N-4 : (1)	¢ 2.92	¢ (1.42)	¢ (4.67)
Net income (loss)	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.42)	\$ (4.67)
Income (loss) per share assuming dilution:			
Income (loss) from continuing operations	\$ 0.36	\$ (0.30)	\$ (3.25)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes	2.54	(1.45)	(1.42)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of taxes	(0.08)	0.33	
Net income (loss)	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.42)	\$ (4.67)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

43

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2002 and 2001

	2002	2001
	(Amounts in except per s	,
ASSETS	• •	·
Current Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents unrestricted	\$ 98,632	\$ 9,194
Cash and cash equivalents restricted	19,323	64,993
Trade receivables, less allowance of \$467 and \$3,056,		
respectively	22,374	13,450
Deferred financing costs	26,865	26,865
Deferred income taxes	20,553	23,438
Other current assets	25,889	15,141
Current assets of discontinued operations	4,095	51,589
Total current assets	217,731	204,670
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation	1,110,163	991,192
Goodwill	6,915	11,136
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization	1,996	6,299
Investments	509,080	550,172
Estimated fair value of derivative assets	207,727	158,028
Long-term deferred financing costs	100,933	137,513
Other assets	24,323	30,053
Long-term assets of discontinued operations	13,328	88,581
Total assets	\$2,192,196	\$2,177,644
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHO	OLDERS EQUITY	
Current liabilities:		
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 8,526	\$ 88,004
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	80,685	88,043
Current liabilities of discontinued operations	6,652	31,228
•		
Total current liabilities	95,863	207,275
Secured forward exchange contract	613,054	613,054
Non-current long-term debt and capital lease obligations,		013,034
net of current portion	332,112	380,993
Deferred income taxes	244,372	138,599
Estimated fair value of derivative liabilities	48,647	85,424
Other liabilities	67,895	52,788
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations	789	844
Minority interest of discontinued operations	1,885	1,679
Commitments and contingencies	1,000	1,077
Stockholders equity:		
Preferred stock, \$.01 par value, 100,000 shares		
authorized, no shares issued or outstanding		
Common stock, \$.01 par value, 150,000 shares		
authorized, 33,780 and 33,736 shares issued and		
outstanding, respectively	338	337
Additional paid-in capital	520,796	519,695
Retained earnings	282,798	187,654
Unearned compensation	(1,018)	(2,021)
	(1,010)	(2,021)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(15,335)	(8,677)
Total stockholders equity	787,579	696,988
Total stockholders equity		
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$2,192,196	\$2,177,644

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

44

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

	2002	2001	2000
	(/	Amounts in thousand	s)
Cash flows from operating activities:			
Net income (loss) Amounts to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash flows provided by operating activities:	\$ 95,144	\$ (47,796)	\$(156,056)
(Gain) loss on discontinued operations, net of taxes	(85,757)	48,833	47,600
Impairment and other charges Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of		14,262	75,660
taxes	2,572	(11,202)	
Unrealized gain on Viacom stock and related derivatives	(49,176)	(55,064)	
Depreciation and amortization	56,480	38,405	44,659
Gain on sale of assets	(30,529)		
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes	64,582	(11,428)	(52,309)
Amortization of deferred financing costs Changes in (net of acquisitions and divestitures):	36,164	35,987	20,780
Trade receivables	(8,924)	5,273	8,830
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(336)	(16,773)	41,332
Other assets and liabilities	3,609	14,625	7,316
Net cash flows provided by operating			
activities continuing operations	83,829	15,122	37,812
Net cash flows provided by (used in)	03,029	13,122	37,612
operating activities discontinued operations	3,451	368	(26,578)
Net cash flows provided by operating			
activities	87,280	15,490	11,234
Cash flows from investing activities:			
Purchases of property and equipment	(185,649)	(280,921)	(216,861)
Proceeds from sale of assets	30,875	2.022	(22.02=)
Other investing activities	9,290	3,033	(33,027)
Net cash flows used in investing activities			
continuing operations Net cash flows provided by (used in)	(145,484)	(277,888)	(249,888)
investing activities discontinued operations	232,570	17,794	(39,052)
Not each flavor movided by (used in)			
Net cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities	87,086	(260,094)	(288,940)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Proceeds from issuance of debt	85,000	535,000	175,500
Repayment of long-term debt	(214,846)	(241,503)	(3,500)
Cash proceeds from secured forward exchange contract	, ,		613,054
Deferred financing costs paid		(19,582)	(195,452)
Net payments under revolving credit agreements		(17,502)	(294,000)
Decrease (increase) in cash and cash equivalents			(=2 :,000)
restricted	45,670	(52,326)	(12,667)

Edgar Filing: PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION INC - Form 10-Q

Proceeds from exercise of stock options and stock purchase plans	919	2,548	2,136
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities continuing operations	(83,257)	224,137	285,071
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities discontinued operations	(1,671)	2,904	9,306
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities	(84,928)	227,041	294,377
Net change in cash and cash equivalents unrestricted	89,438	(17,563)	16,671
Cash and cash equivalents unrestricted, beginning of year	9,194	26,757	10,086
Cash and cash equivalents unrestricted, end of year	\$ 98,632	\$ 9,194	\$ 26,757

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

45

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

For the Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000

	Common Stock	Additional Paid-in Capital	Retained Earnings	Unearned Compensation	Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)	Total Stockholders Equity
			(am	ounts in thousands)		
Balance, December 31, 1999 Comprehensive Loss:	\$333	\$512,401	\$ 391,506	\$(1,570)	\$ 99,060	\$1,001,730
Net loss			(156,056)			(156,056)
Unrealized loss on investments,			, , ,			, ,
net					(81,901)	(81,901)
Foreign currency translation					(705)	(705)
Comprehensive loss						(238,662)
Exercise of stock options	2	1,845				1,847
Tax benefit on stock options		1,000				1,000
Employee stock plan purchases		289				289
Issuance of restricted stock	1	2,776		(2,777)		
Cancellation of restricted stock	(2)	(4,705)		4,707		
Compensation expense		173		(440)		(267)
Balance, December 31, 2000	334	513,779	235,450	(80)	16,454	765,937
Comprehensive loss:						
Net loss			(47,796)			(47,796)
Reclassification of gain on						
marketable securities					(17,957)	(17,957)
Unrealized loss on interest rate						
caps					(213)	(213)
Minimum pension liability, net of						
deferred income taxes					(7,672)	(7,672)
Foreign currency translation					711	711
Comprehensive loss						(72,927)
Exercise of stock options	2	2,327				2,329
Tax benefit on stock options		720				720
Employee stock plan purchases		219				219
Issuance of restricted stock	1	3,664		(3,665)		
Cancellation of restricted stock		(928)		928		
Compensation expense		(86)		796 ——		710
Balance, December 31, 2001	337	519,695	187,654	(2,021)	(8,677)	696,988
Comprehensive Income:						
Net income			95,144			95,144
Unrealized loss on interest rate						
caps					(161)	(161)
Minimum pension liability, net of						
deferred income taxes					(7,252)	(7,252)
Foreign currency translation					755	755
Comprehensive income						88,486
Exercise of stock options	1	660				661
Tax benefit on stock options		28				28
•						

Edgar Filing: PRECISION OPTICS CORPORATION INC - Form 10-Q

Employee stock plan purchases		206				206
Modification of stock plan		52				52
Issuance of restricted stock		115		(115)		
Issuance of stock warrants		40				40
Cancellation of restricted stock		(32)		32		
Compensation expense		32		1,086		1,118
Balance, December 31, 2002	\$338	\$520,796	\$ 282,798	\$(1,018)	\$(15,335)	\$ 787,579

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

46

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Description of the Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Gaylord Entertainment Company (the Company) is a diversified hospitality and entertainment company operating, through its subsidiaries, principally in three business segments: hospitality; attractions; and corporate and other. During the first quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of the assets primarily used in the operation of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM) (collectively, the Radio Operations). The Radio Operations, along with other businesses with respect to which the Company pursued plans of disposal in 2002 and prior periods, have been presented as discontinued operations as described in more detail below and in Note 5. The Radio Operations were previously included in a fourth business segment, media, along with WSM-AM. Due to the Radio Operations being included in discontinued operations, WSM-AM is now grouped in the attractions business segment for all periods presented.

Business Segments

Hospitality

The hospitality segment includes the operations of Gaylord HotelsTM branded hotels and the Radisson Hotel at Opryland. At December 31, 2002, the Company owns and operates the Gaylord Opryland Resort Hotel and Convention Center (Gaylord Opryland) (formerly known as the Opryland Hotel Nashville), the Gaylord Palms Resort Hotel and Convention Center (Gaylord Palms) (formerly known as the Opryland Hotel Florida) and the Radisson Hotel at Opryland. Gaylord Opryland and the Radisson Hotel at Opryland are both located in Nashville, Tennessee. Gaylord Opryland is owned and operated by Opryland Hotel Nashville, LLC, a consolidated wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in Delaware. The Gaylord Palms in Kissimmee, Florida opened in January 2002. The Company is developing a Gaylord hotel in Grapevine, Texas, which is expected to open in 2004. The Company has the option to purchase land for the development of a hotel in the Washington, D.C. area. This project is subject to the availability of financing and final approval of the Company s Board of Directors.

Attractions

The attractions segment includes all of the Company s Nashville-based tourist attractions. At December 31, 2002, these include the Grand Ole Opry, the General Jackson Showboat, the Wildhorse Saloon, the Ryman Auditorium and the Springhouse Golf Club, among others. The attractions segment also includes WSM-AM and Corporate Magic, which specializes in the production of creative events in the corporate entertainment marketplace. During 1999, the Company created a new division, Gaylord Digital, formed to initiate a focused Internet strategy as further discussed in Note 6. During 2000, the Company closed Gaylord Digital, as further discussed in Note 3.

Corporate and Other

Corporate includes salaries and benefits of the Company s executive and administrative personnel and various other overhead costs. This segment also includes the expenses associated with the Company s ownership of various investments, including Bass Pro, the Nashville Predators, the naming rights agreement and Opry Mills. The Company owns minority interests in Bass Pro, Inc. (Bass Pro), a leading retailer of premium outdoor sporting goods and fishing products, and the Nashville Predators, a National Hockey League professional team. Until the second quarter of 2002, the Company owned a minority interest in a partnership with The Mills Corporation that developed Opry Mills, a Nashville entertainment and retail complex, which opened in May 2000. The Company sold its interest in Opry Mills during 2002 to certain affiliates of The Mills Corporation, as further discussed in Note 7. During the first quarter of 2002, the Company disclosed that it intended to dispose of its investment in the Nashville Predators.

47

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all of its majority-owned subsidiaries. Investments in less than 50% owned limited partnerships are accounted for utilizing the equity method. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Unrestricted

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Restricted

Restricted cash and cash equivalents represent cash held in escrow for required capital expenditures, property taxes, insurance payments and other reserves required pursuant to the terms of the Company s debt agreements, as further described in Note 12. The Company also has restricted cash balances of \$0.6 million which collateralize certain outstanding letters of credit.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid for interest for the years ended December 31 was comprised of (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001	2000
			-
Debt interest paid	\$17,749	\$ 23,405	\$ 13,043
Deferred financing costs paid		19,582	195,452
Capitalized interest	(6,825)	(18,781)	(6,775)
Cash interest paid, net of capitalized interest	\$10,924	\$ 24,206	\$201,720

Income taxes refunds received were \$64.6 million, \$23.9 million and \$18.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Accounts Receivable

The Company s accounts receivable are primarily generated by meetings and convention attendees room nights. Receivables arising from these sales are not collateralized. Credit risk associated with the accounts receivable is minimized due to the large and diverse nature of the customer base. No customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company s trade receivables at December 31, 2002.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company provides allowances for doubtful accounts based upon a percentage of revenue and periodic evaluations of the aging of accounts receivable. At December 31, 2001, the Company had fully reserved a \$2.4 million trade receivable from a customer. During 2002, the Company learned the customer would not be able to pay the Company for the receivable and therefore, wrote the trade receivable off against the related reserve.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs consist of prepaid interest, loan fees and other costs of financing that are amortized over the term of the related financing agreements, using the effective interest method. For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, deferred financing costs of \$36.2 million, \$36.0 million

48

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

and \$20.8 million, respectively, were amortized and recorded as interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The current portion of deferred financing costs at December 31, 2002 represents the amount of prepaid contract payments related to the secured forward exchange contract discussed in Note 10 that will be amortized in the coming year.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Improvements and significant renovations that extend the lives of existing assets are capitalized. Interest on funds borrowed to finance the construction of major capital additions is included in the cost of the applicable capital addition. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Property and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

Buildings	40 years
Land improvements	20 years
Attractions-related equipment	16 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	3-8 years
Leasehold improvements	The shorter of the lease term or useful life

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill

In accounting for the Company s long-lived assets other than goodwill, the Company applies the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 144 during 2001 with an effective date of January 1, 2001.

Goodwill and Intangibles

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, and SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 141 supersedes Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 16, Business Combinations, and requires the use of the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations prospectively. SFAS No. 141 also provides guidance on recognition of intangible assets apart from goodwill. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 in June of 2001. SFAS No. 142 supercedes APB Opinion No. 17, Intangible Assets, and changes the accounting for goodwill and intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized but are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever events or circumstances occur indicating that these intangible assets may be impaired. The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002, and as a result, the Company ceased the amortization of goodwill on that date. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the Company performs its annual review of impairment of goodwill by comparing the carrying value of the applicable reporting unit to the fair value of the reporting unit. If the fair value is less than the carrying value then the Company measures potential impairment by assigning the assets and liabilities of the Company to the reporting unit in a manner similar to a purchase transaction, in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 141, and comparing the implied value of goodwill to its carrying value. The Company is goodwill and intangibles are discussed further in Note 19.

Leases

The Company is leasing a 65.3 acre site in Osceola County, Florida on which the Gaylord Palms is located and has various other leasing arrangements, including leases for office space and office equipment.

49

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The Company accounts for lease obligations in accordance with SFAS No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and related interpretations. The Company s leases are discussed further in Note 16.

Investments

The Company owns investments in marketable securities and has minority interest investments in certain businesses. Marketable securities are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Generally, non-marketable investments (excluding limited partnerships) in which the Company owns less than 20 percent are accounted for using the cost method of accounting and investments in which the Company owns between 20 percent and 50 percent and limited partnerships are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

Other Assets

Other current and long-term assets of continuing operations at December 31 consist of (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Other current assets:		
Other current receivables	\$ 5,916	\$ 5,097
Note receivable current portion	10,000	
Inventories	3,900	3,450
Prepaid expenses	3,850	5,949
Current income tax receivable	1,478	
Other current assets	745	645
Total other current assets	\$25,889	\$15,141
Other long-term assets:		
Note receivable	\$ 7,500	\$17,791
Deferred software costs, net	11,101	7,980
Other long-term assets	5,722	4,282
Total other long-term assets	\$24,323	\$30,053

Other current assets

Other current receivables result primarily from non-operating income and are due within one year. The current note receivable at December 31, 2002, is an unsecured note receivable from Bass Pro, which bears interest at a fixed annual rate of 8% which is payable annually. This note matures in October 2003. Inventories consist primarily of merchandise for resale and are carried at the lower of cost or market. Cost is computed on an average cost basis. Prepaid expenses consist of prepaid insurance and contracts that will be expensed during the subsequent year.

Other long-term assets

Long-term note receivable relates to an separate unsecured note receivable from Bass Pro. This long-term note receivable bears interest at a variable rate which is payable quarterly and matures in 2009.

The Company capitalizes the costs of computer software for internal use in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1,

50

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. Accordingly, the Company capitalized the external costs to acquire and develop computer software and certain internal payroll costs during 2002 and 2001. Deferred software costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5 years.

Preopening Costs

In accordance with AICPA SOP 98-5, Reporting on the Costs of Start-Up Activities, the Company expenses the costs associated with preopening expenses related to the construction of new hotels, start-up activities and organization costs as incurred.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities of continuing operations at December 31 consist of (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Trade accounts payable	\$ 7,524	\$ 6,774
Accrued construction in progress	17,484	27,011
Property and other taxes payable	15,854	15,321
Deferred revenues	11,879	7,311
Accrued salaries and benefits	7,679	6,990
Restructuring accruals	701	5,737
Accrued self-insurance reserves	3,755	4,848
Accrued interest payable	554	1,099
Accrued advertising and promotion	4,206	1,728
Other accrued liabilities	11,049	11,224
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$80,685	\$88,043

Deferred revenues consist primarily of deposits on advance room bookings and advance ticket sales at the Company s tourism properties. The Company is self-insured up to a stop loss for certain losses relating to workers compensation claims, employee medical benefits and general liability claims. The Company recognizes self-insured losses based upon estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims incurred using certain actuarial assumptions followed in the insurance industry or the Company s historical experience.

Income Taxes

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company establishes deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the difference between the financial statement and income tax carrying amounts of assets and liabilities using existing tax laws and tax rates. See Note 13 for more detail on the Company s income taxes.

Minority Interests of Discontinued Operations

Minority interests relate to the interests in consolidated companies that the Company does not wholly own. The Company allocates income or loss to the minority interests based on the percentage ownership throughout the year.

51

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when services are provided or goods are shipped, as applicable. Provision for returns and other adjustments are provided for in the same period the revenues are recognized.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs from continuing operations were \$22.8 million, \$25.7 million and \$40.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The decrease in advertising expense during 2002 and 2001 compared to 2000 was due to the closing of Gaylord Digital as discussed in Note 3.

Stock-Based Compensation

SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, encourages, but does not require, companies to record compensation cost for stock-based employee compensation plans at fair value. The Company has chosen to continue to account for employee stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method as prescribed in APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related Interpretations, under which no compensation cost related to employee stock options has been recognized. In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide two additional methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. This statement also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require certain disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company adopted the amended disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 on December 31, 2002 and the information contained in this report reflects the disclosure requirements of the new pronouncement. The Company will continue to account for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25.

If compensation cost for these plans had been determined consistent with SFAS No. 123, the Company s net income (loss) (in thousands) and income (loss) per share (in dollars) for the years ended December 31 would have been reduced (increased) to the following pro forma amounts:

	2002	2001	2000
Net income (loss):			
As reported	\$95,144	\$(47,796)	\$(156,056)
Stock-based employee compensation, net of tax effect	3,190	2,412	1,233
Pro forma	\$91,954	\$(50,208)	\$(157,289)
Income (loss) per share:			
As reported	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.42)	\$ (4.67)
Pro forma	\$ 2.72	\$ (1.50)	\$ (4.71)
Income (loss) per share assuming dilution:			
As reported	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.42)	\$ (4.67)
Pro forma	\$ 2.72	\$ (1.50)	\$ (4.71)
	÷ 22	¥ (2.00)	* (2)

The Company s stock-based compensation is further described in Note 15.

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Discontinued Operations

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. SFAS No. 144 superseded SFAS No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of and the accounting and reporting provisions for the disposal of a segment of a business of APB Opinion No. 30, Reporting the Results of Operations Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. SFAS No. 144 retained the requirements of SFAS No. 121 for the recognition and measurement of an impairment loss and broadened the presentation of discontinued operations to include a component of an entity (rather than a segment of a business). The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 144 during 2001 with an effective date of January 1, 2001.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144, the Company has presented the operating results, financial position and cash flows of the following businesses as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002: WSM-FM and WWTN(FM), Word Entertainment (Word), the Company s contemporary Christian music business; the Acuff-Rose Music Publishing entity; GET Management, the Company s artist management business which was sold during 2001; the Company s ownership interest in the Redhawks, a minor league baseball team based in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; the Company s international cable networks; the businesses sold to affiliates of The Oklahoma Publishing Company (OPUBCO) in 2001 consisting of Pandora Films, Gaylord Films, Gaylord Sports Management, Gaylord Event Television and Gaylord Production Company; and the Company s water taxis that were sold in 2001. The results of operations of these businesses, including impairment and other charges, restructuring charges and any gain or loss on disposal, have been reflected as discontinued operations, net of taxes, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and the assets and liabilities of these businesses are reflected as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, as further described in Note 5.

Income (Loss) Per Share

SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share, established standards for computing and presenting earnings per share. Under the standards established by SFAS No. 128, earnings per share is measured at two levels: basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding after considering the effect of conversion of dilutive instruments, calculated using the treasury stock method. Income per share amounts are calculated as follows for the years ended December 31 (income and share amounts in thousands):

2002

	2002		
	Income	Shares	Per Share
Net income	\$95,144	33,763	\$2.82
Effect of dilutive stock options		31	
Net income assuming dilution	\$95,144	33,794	\$2.82

53

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

		2001	
	Loss	Shares	Per Share
Net loss	\$(47,796)	33,562	\$(1.42)
Effect of dilutive stock options			
Net loss assuming dilution	\$(47,796)	33,562	\$(1.42)
		2000	
	Loss	2000 Shares	Per Share
Net loss	Loss \$(156,056)		Per Share \$(4.67)
Net loss Effect of dilutive stock options		Shares	

For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the effect of dilutive stock options was the equivalent of 99,000 shares and 120,000 shares, respectively, of common stock outstanding. Because the Company had a net loss in each of the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, these incremental shares were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for those years as the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Comprehensive Income

SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, requires that changes in the amounts of certain items, including gains and losses on certain securities, be shown in the financial statements as a component of comprehensive income. The Company s comprehensive income (loss) is presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders equity.

Financial Instruments

The Company s carrying value of its debt and long-term notes receivable approximates fair value based upon the variable nature of these financial instruments interest rates. Certain of the Company s investments are carried at fair value determined using quoted market prices as discussed further in Note 9. The carrying amount of short-term financial instruments (cash, trade receivables, accounts payable and accrued liabilities) approximates fair value due to the short maturity of those instruments. The concentration of credit risk on trade receivables is minimized by the large and diverse nature of the Company s customer base.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to reduce interest rate risks and to manage risk exposure to changes in the value of certain owned marketable securities as discussed in Note 11. Effective January 1, 2001, the Company records derivatives in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which was subsequently amended by SFAS No. 138. SFAS No. 133, as amended, established accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities. SFAS No. 133 requires all derivatives to be recognized in the statement of financial position and to be measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value of those instruments are reported in earnings or other comprehensive income depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for

hedge accounting.

54

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Newly Issued Accounting Standards

In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities. SFAS No. 146 replaces Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) No. 94-3. SFAS No. 146 requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized when the liability is incurred, whereas EITF No. 94-3 had recognized the liability at the commitment date to an exit plan. The Company is required to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 146 effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 is not expected to have a significant impact on previously reported costs.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of SFAS No. 123. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide two additional methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. This statement also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require certain disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The Company adopted the amended disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 148 on December 31, 2002 and the information contained in this report reflect the disclosure requirements of the new pronouncement. The Company will continue to account for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25.

2. Construction Funding Requirements

Additional long-term financing is required to fund the Company s construction commitments related to its hotel development projects and to fund its overall anticipated operating losses in 2003. As of December 31, 2002, the Company had \$98.6 million in unrestricted cash and the net cash flows from certain operations to fund its cash requirements including the Company s 2003 construction commitments related to its hotel construction projects. These resources are not adequate to fund all of the Company s 2003 construction commitments.

During May of 2003, the Company finalized a \$225 million credit facility (the 2003 Loans) with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Bank of America, N.A., CIBC Inc. and a syndicate of other lenders. The 2003 Loans consist of a \$25 million senior revolving facility, a \$150 million senior term loan and a \$50 million subordinated term loan. The 2003 Loans are due in 2006. The senior loan bears interest of LIBOR plus 3.5%. The subordinated loan bears interest of LIBOR plus 8.0%. The 2003 Loans are secured by the Gaylord Palms assets and the Gaylord Texas Hotel. At the time of closing the 2003 Loans, the Company engaged LIBOR interest rate swaps which fixed the LIBOR rates of the 2003 Loans at 1.48% in year one and 2.09% in year two. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee equal to 0.5% per year of the average daily unused portion of the 2003 Loans. At the end of the second quarter of 2003, the Company had 100% borrowing capacity of the \$25 million revolver. Proceeds of the 2003 Loans were used to pay off the Term Loan of \$60 million (see Note 12) and the remaining net proceeds of approximately \$134 million were deposited into an escrow account for the completion of the construction of the Texas hotel. The provisions of the 2003 Loans contain covenants and restrictions including

55

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

compliance with certain financial covenants, restrictions on additional indebtedness, escrowed cash balances, as well as other customary restrictions.

3. Impairment and Other Charges

During 2000, the Company experienced a significant number of departures from its senior management, including the Company s president and chief executive officer. In addition, the Company continued to produce weaker than anticipated operating results during 2000 while attempting to fund its capital requirements related to its hotel construction project in Florida and hotel development activities in Texas. As a result of these factors, during 2000, the Company completed an assessment of its strategic alternatives related to its operations and capital requirements and developed a strategic plan designed to refocus the Company s operations, reduce its operating losses and reduce its negative cash flows (the 2000 Strategic Assessment).

As a result of the 2000 Strategic Assessment, the Company adopted a plan to divest a number of its under-performing businesses through sale or closure and to curtail certain projects and business lines that were no longer projected to produce a positive return. As a result of the completion of the 2000 Strategic Assessment, the Company recognized pretax impairment and other charges in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 121 and other relevant authoritative literature.

During 2001, the Company named a new chairman and a new chief executive officer, and had numerous changes in senior management, primarily because of certain 2000 events discussed below. The new management team instituted a corporate reorganization and the reevaluation of the Company s businesses and other investments (the 2001 Strategic Assessment). As a result of the 2001 Strategic Assessment, the Company determined that the carrying value of certain long-lived assets were not fully recoverable and recorded pretax impairment and other charges from continuing operations in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144.

The components of the impairment and other charges related to continuing operations for the years ended December 31 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

	2001	2000
Programming, film and other content	\$ 6,858	\$ 7,410
Gaylord Digital and other technology investments	4,576	48,127
Property and equipment	2,828	3,397
Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon		15,854
Other		872
Total impairment and other charges	\$14,262	\$75,660

Additional impairment and other charges of \$53.7 million and \$29.9 million during 2001 and 2000, respectively, are included in discontinued operations.

2001 Impairment and Other Charges

The Company began production of an IMAX movie during 2000 to portray the history of country music. As a result of the 2001 Strategic Assessment, the carrying value of the IMAX film asset was reevaluated on the basis of its estimated future cash flows resulting in an impairment charge of \$6.9 million. At December 31, 2000, the Company held a minority investment in a technology start-up business. During 2001, the unfavorable environment for technology businesses created difficulty for this business to obtain adequate capital to execute its business plan and, subsequently, the Company was notified that this technology business had been unsuccessful in arranging financing, resulting in an

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

impairment charge of \$4.6 million. The Company also recorded an impairment charge related to idle real estate of \$2.0 million during 2001 based upon an assessment of the value of the property. The Company sold this idle real estate during the second quarter of 2002. Proceeds from the sale approximated the carrying value of the property. In addition, the Company recorded an impairment charge for other idle property and equipment totaling \$0.8 million during 2001 primarily due to the consolidation of offices resulting from personnel reductions as discussed in Note 3.

2000 Impairment and Other Charges

The Company s 2000 Strategic Assessment of its programming, film and other content assets resulted in pretax impairment and other charges of \$7.4 million based upon the projected cash flows for these assets. This charge included investments of \$5.1 million, other receivables of \$2.1 million and music and film catalogs of \$0.2 million.

The Company closed Gaylord Digital, its Internet-related business in 2000. During 1999 and 2000, Gaylord Digital was unable to produce the operating results initially anticipated and required an extensive amount of capital to fund its operating losses, investments and technology infrastructure. As a result of the closing, the Company recorded a pretax charge of \$48.1 million in 2000 to reduce the carrying value of Gaylord Digital s assets to their fair value based upon estimated selling prices. The Gaylord Digital charge included the write-down of intangible assets of \$25.8 million, property and equipment (including software) of \$14.8 million, investments of \$7.0 million and other assets of \$0.6 million. The operating results of Gaylord Digital are included in continuing operations. Excluding the effect of the impairment and other charges, Gaylord Digital had revenues of \$3.9 million and operating losses of \$27.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

During the course of conducting the 2000 Strategic Assessment, other property and equipment of the Company were reviewed to determine whether the change in the Company s strategic direction resulted in additional impaired assets. This review indicated that certain property and equipment would not be recovered by projected cash flows. The Company recorded pretax impairment and other charges related to its property and equipment of \$3.4 million. These charges included property and equipment write-downs in the hospitality segment of \$1.4 million, in the attractions segment of \$0.5 million and in the corporate and other segment of \$1.5 million.

During November 2000, the Company ceased the operations of the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon. Walt Disney World® Resort paid the Company approximately \$1.8 million for the net assets of the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon and released the Company from its operating lease for the Wildhorse Saloon location. As a result of this divestiture, the Company recorded pretax charges of \$15.9 million to reflect the impairment and other charges related to the divestiture. The Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon charges included the write-off of equipment of \$9.4 million, intangible assets of \$8.1 million and other working capital items of \$0.1 million offset by the \$1.8 million of proceeds received from Disney. The operating results of the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon are included in continuing operations. Excluding the effect of the impairment and other charges, the Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon had revenues of \$4.4 million and operating losses of \$1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

57

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

4. Restructuring Charges

The following table summarizes the activities of the restructuring charges for continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (amounts in thousands):

	Balance at December 31, 2001	Restructuring Charges and Adjustments	Payments	Balance at December 31, 2002
2002 restructuring charge	\$	\$ 1,062	\$1,062	\$
2001 restructuring charges	4,168	(1,079)	2,658	431
2000 restructuring charge	1,569		1,299	270
	\$5,737	\$ (17)	\$5,019	\$701
				_
	Balance at December 31, 2000	Restructuring Charges and Adjustments	Payments	Balance at December 31, 2001
2001 restructuring charges	\$	\$ 5,848	\$1,680	\$4,168
2000 restructuring charge	10,825	(3,666)	\$5,590	\$1,569
	\$10,825	\$ 2,182	\$7,270	\$5,737
	_	_	_	_
	Balance at December 31, 1999	Restructuring Charges and Adjustments	Payments	Balance at December 31, 2000
2000 restructuring charge	\$	\$13,186	\$2,361	\$10,825
1999 restructuring charge	469	(234)	235	
	\$469	\$12,952	\$2,596	\$10,825

2002 Restructuring Charge

As part of the Company s ongoing assessment of operations, the Company identified certain duplication of duties within divisions and realized the need to streamline those tasks and duties. Related to this assessment, during the second quarter of 2002 the Company adopted a plan of restructuring resulting in a pretax restructuring charge of \$1.1 million related to employee severance costs and other employee benefits unrelated to the discontinued operations. These restructuring charges were recorded in accordance with EITF Issue No. 94-3. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded cash payments of \$1.1 million against the 2002 restructuring accrual. During the fourth quarter of 2002, the outplacement agreements expired related to the 2002 restructuring charge. Therefore, the Company reversed the remaining \$67,000. There was no remaining balance of the 2002 restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002.

2001 Restructuring Charges

During 2001, the Company recognized net pretax restructuring charges from continuing operations of \$5.8 million related to streamlining operations and reducing layers of management. These restructuring charges were recorded in accordance with EITF Issue No. 94-3. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company entered into two subleases to lease certain office space the Company previously had recorded in the 2001 restructuring charges. As a result, the Company reversed \$0.9 million of the 2001 restructuring charges during 2002 related to continuing operations based upon the occurrence of certain triggering events. Also during the second quarter of 2002, the Company evaluated the 2001 restructuring accrual and determined certain severance benefits and outplacement agreements had expired and adjusted the

58

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

previously recorded amounts by \$0.2 million. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded cash payments of \$4.4 million against the 2001 restructuring accrual. The remaining balance of the 2001 restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002 of \$0.4 million is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company expects the remaining balances of the 2001 restructuring accrual to be paid during 2005.

2000 Restructuring Charge

As part of the Company s 2000 strategic assessment, the Company recognized pretax restructuring charges of \$13.1 million related to continuing operations during 2000, in accordance with EITF Issue No. 94-3. Additional restructuring charges of \$3.2 million during 2000 were included in discontinued operations. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company entered into a sublease that reduced the liability the Company was originally required to pay and the Company reversed \$0.1 million of the 2000 restructuring charge related to the reduction in required payments. During 2001, the Company negotiated reductions in certain contract termination costs, which allowed the reversal of \$3.7 million of the restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded cash payments of \$9.3 million against the 2000 restructuring accrual related to continuing operations. The remaining balance of the 2000 restructuring accrual at December 31, 2002 of \$0.3 million, from continuing operations, is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, which the Company expects to be paid during 2005.

5. Discontinued Operations

As discussed in Note 1, the Company has reflected the following businesses as discontinued operations, consistent with the provisions of SFAS No. 144 and APB No. 30. The results of operations, net of taxes, (prior to their disposal where applicable) and the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of these businesses have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations in accordance with SFAS No. 144 for all periods presented. These restatements did not impact cash flows from operating, investing or financing activities.

WSM-FM and WWTN(FM)

During the first quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). Subsequent to committing to a plan of disposal during the first quarter of 2003, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into an agreement to sell the assets primarily used in the operations of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM) to Cumulus Broadcasting, Inc. (Cumulus) in exchange for approximately \$62.5 million in cash. In connection with this agreement, the Company also entered into a local marketing agreement with Cumulus pursuant to which, from April 21, 2003 until the closing of the sale of the assets, the Company, for a fee, made available to Cumulus substantially all of the broadcast time on WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). In turn, Cumulus provided programming to be broadcast during such broadcast time and collected revenues from the advertising that it sold for broadcast during this programming time. On July 22, 2003, the Company finalized the sale of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM) for approximately \$62.5 million, at which time, net proceeds of approximately \$50 million were placed in an escrow account for completion of the Texas hotel. Concurrently, the Company also entered into a joint sales agreement with Cumulus for WSM-AM in exchange for \$2.5 million in cash. The Company will continue to own and operate WSM-AM, and under the terms of the joint sales agreement with Cumulus, Cumulus will be responsible for all sales of commercial advertising on WSM-AM and provide certain sales promotion, billing and collection services relating to WSM-AM, all for a specified commission. The joint sales agreement has a term of five years.

59

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Acuff-Rose Music Publishing

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of its Acuff-Rose Music Publishing catalog entity. During the third quarter of 2002, the Company finalized the sale of the Acuff-Rose Music Publishing entity to Sony/ATV Music Publishing for approximately \$157.0 million in cash. The Company recognized a pretax gain of \$130.6 million during the third quarter of 2002 related to the sale in discontinued operations. The gain on the sale of Acuff-Rose Music Publishing is recorded in the income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations. Proceeds of \$25.0 million were used to reduce the Company s outstanding indebtedness as further discussed in Note 12.

OKC Redhawks

During 2002, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of its ownership interests in the Redhawks, a minor league baseball team based in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma.

Word Entertainment

During 2001, the Company committed to a plan to sell Word Entertainment. As a result of the decision to sell Word Entertainment, the Company reduced the carrying value of Word Entertainment to its estimated fair value by recognizing a pretax charge of \$30.4 million in discontinued operations during 2001. The estimated fair value of Word Entertainment s net assets was determined based upon ongoing negotiations with potential buyers. Related to the decision to sell Word Entertainment, a pretax restructuring charge of \$1.5 million was recorded in discontinued operations in 2001. The restructuring charge consisted of \$0.9 million related to lease termination costs and \$0.6 million related to severance costs. In addition, the Company recorded a reversal of \$0.1 million of restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. During the first quarter of 2002, the Company sold Word Entertainment s domestic operations to an affiliate of Warner Music Group for \$84.1 million in cash, subject to future purchase price adjustments. The Company recognized a pretax gain of \$0.5 million in discontinued operations during the first quarter of 2002 related to the sale of Word Entertainment. Proceeds from the sale of \$80.0 million were used to reduce the Company s outstanding indebtedness as further discussed in Note 12.

International Cable Networks

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company adopted a formal plan to dispose of its international cable networks. As part of this plan, the Company hired investment bankers to facilitate the disposition process, and formal communications with potentially interested parties began in July 2001. In an attempt to simplify the disposition process, in July 2001, the Company acquired an additional 25% ownership interest in its music networks in Argentina, increasing its ownership interest from 50% to 75%. In August 2001, the partnerships in Argentina finalized a pending transaction in which a third party acquired a 10% ownership interest in the companies in exchange for satellite, distribution and sales services, bringing the Company s interest to 67.5%.

In December 2001, the Company made the decision to cease funding of its cable networks in Asia and Brazil as well as its partnerships in Argentina if a sale had not been completed by February 28, 2002. At that time the Company recorded pretax restructuring charges of \$1.9 million consisting of \$1.0 million of severance and \$0.9 million of contract termination costs related to the networks. Also during 2001, the Company negotiated reductions in the contract termination costs with several vendors that resulted in a reversal of \$0.3 million of restructuring charges originally recorded during 2000. Based on the status of the Company s efforts to sell its international cable networks at the end of 2001, the Company recorded pretax impairment and other charges of \$23.3 million during 2001. Included in this charge are the impairment of an investment in the two Argentina-based music channels totaling \$10.9 million, the impairment of fixed

60

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

assets, including capital leases associated with certain transponders leased by the Company, of \$6.9 million, the impairment of a receivable of \$3.0 million from the Argentina-based channels, current assets of \$1.5 million, and intangible assets of \$1.0 million.

During the first quarter of 2002, the Company finalized a transaction to sell certain assets of its Asia and Brazil networks, including the assignment of certain transponder leases. Also during the first quarter of 2002, the Company ceased operations based in Argentina. The transponder lease assignment requires the Company to guarantee lease payments in 2002 from the acquirer of these networks. As such, the Company recorded a lease liability for the amount of the assignee s portion of the transponder lease.

Businesses Sold to OPUBCO

During 2001, the Company sold five businesses (Pandora Films, Gaylord Films, Gaylord Sports Management, Gaylord Event Television and Gaylord Production Company) to affiliates of OPUBCO for \$22.0 million in cash and the assumption of debt of \$19.3 million. The Company recognized a pretax loss of \$1.7 million related to the sale in discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. OPUBCO owns a minority interest in the Company. During 2002, three of the Company s directors are also directors of OPUBCO and voting trustees of a voting trust that controls OPUBCO. Additionally, these three directors collectively own a significant ownership interest in the Company.

The following table reflects the results of operations of businesses accounted for as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31 (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001	2000
Revenues:			
Radio Operations	\$10,240	\$ 8,207	\$ 8,865
Acuff-Rose Music Publishing	7,654	14,764	14,100
Redhawks	6,289	6,122	5,890
Word Entertainment	2,594	115,677	130,706
International cable networks	744	5,025	6,606
Businesses sold to OPUBCO		2,195	39,706
Other		609	1,900
Total revenues	\$27,521	\$152,599	\$207,773
Operating income (loss):			
Radio Operations	\$ 1,305	\$ 2,184	\$ 3,200
Acuff-Rose Music Publishing	933	2,119	1,688
Redhawks	841	363	169
Word Entertainment	(917)	(5,710)	(15,241)
International cable networks	(1,576)	(6,375)	(9,655)
Businesses sold to OPUBCO		(1,816)	(8,240)
Other		(383)	(144)
Impairment and other charges		(53,716)	(29,878)
Restructuring charges	(20)	(2,959)	(3,241)
			-
Total operating income (loss)	566	(66,293)	(61,342)
	61		

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

	2002	2001	2000
Interest expense	(81)	(797)	(1,322)
Interest expense Interest income	81	199	683
Other gains and losses	135,442	(4,131)	(4,419)
Income (loss) before benefit for income taxes	136,008	(71,022)	(66,400)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	50,251	(22,189)	(18,800)
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations	\$ 85,757	\$(48,833)	\$(47,600)

The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operations presented in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31 are comprised of (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Current assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 1,812	\$ 3,889
Trade receivables, less allowance of \$2,938 and \$5,132,		
respectively	1,954	29,990
Inventories	163	6,486
Prepaid expenses	97	10,333
Other current assets	69	891
Total current assets	4,095	51,589
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation	5,157	19,497
Goodwill	3,527	31,053
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization	3,942	6,125
Music and film catalogs		26,274
Other long-term assets	702	5,632
Total long-term assets	13,328	88,581
Total assets	\$17,423	\$140,170
Current liabilities:		
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 94	\$ 5,515
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	6,558	25,713
recounts payable and accraca nationales		
Total current liabilities	6,652	31,228
Long-term debt, net of current portion	0,032	31,226
Other long-term liabilities	789	844
Other rong term nationales		
Total long-term liabilities	789	844
8		
Total liabilities	7,441	32,072
Minority interest of discontinued operations	1,885	1,679

Total liabilities and minority interest of discontinued operations

\$ 9,326

\$ 33,751

6. Acquisitions

During 2000, the Company acquired Corporate Magic, a company specializing in the production of creative events in the corporate entertainment marketplace, for \$7.5 million in cash and a \$1.5 million note payable. The acquisition was financed through borrowings under the Company s revolving credit agreement

62

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

and was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The operating results of Corporate Magic have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition.

During 1999, the Company formed Gaylord Digital, its Internet initiative, and acquired 84% of two online operations, Musicforce.com and Lightsource.com, for approximately \$23.4 million in cash. During 2000, the Company acquired the remaining 16% of Musicforce.com and Lightsource.com for approximately \$6.5 million in cash. The acquisition was financed through borrowings under the Company s revolving credit agreement and has been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The operating results of the online operations have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition of a controlling interest. During 2000, the Company announced the closing of Gaylord Digital, as further discussed in Note 3.

7. Divestitures

During 1998, the Company entered into a partnership with The Mills Corporation to develop the Opry Mills Shopping Center in Nashville, Tennessee. The Company held a one-third interest in the partnership as well as the title to the land on which the shopping center was constructed, which was being leased to the partnership. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company sold its partnership share to certain affiliates of The Mills Corporation for approximately \$30.8 million in cash proceeds. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, and other applicable pronouncements, the Company deferred approximately \$20.0 million of the gain representing the estimated fair value of the continuing land lease interest between the Company and the Opry Mills partnership at June 30, 2002. The Company recognized the remainder of the proceeds, net of certain transaction costs, as a gain of approximately \$10.6 million during the second quarter of 2002. During the third quarter of 2002, the Company sold its interest in the land lease to an affiliate of the Mills Corporation and recognized the remaining \$20.0 million deferred gain, less certain transaction costs.

During 2001, the indemnification period related to the Company s 1999 disposition of television station KTVT in Dallas-Fort Worth ended, resulting in the recognition of a pretax gain of \$4.6 million related to the reversal of previously recorded contingent liabilities. The gain is included in other gains and losses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

During 2000, the Company sold its KOA Campground located near Gaylord Opryland for \$2.0 million in cash. The Company recognized a pretax loss on the sale of \$3.2 million, which is included in other gains and losses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Also during 2000, the Company divested its Orlando-area Wildhorse Saloon and Gaylord Digital, as further discussed in Note 3.

8. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment of continuing operations at December 31 is recorded at cost and summarized as follows (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Land and land improvements	\$ 128,972	\$ 95,113
Buildings	819,610	498,050
Furniture, fixtures and equipment	312,690	231,067
Construction in progress	207,215	474,697
	1,468,487	1,298,927
Accumulated depreciation	(358,324)	(307,735)
Property and equipment, net	\$1,110,163	\$ 991,192

63

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Concurrent with the sale of the Opry Mills partnership, the Company purchased \$5.0 million of land from The Mills Corporation.

The decrease in construction in progress during 2002 primarily relates to the opening of the Gaylord Palms which resulted in the transfer of assets previously recorded in construction in progress into the appropriate property and equipment categories as the assets were placed into service. The decrease in construction in progress was partially offset by an increase of the costs of the Texas hotel construction project. Buildings and furniture, fixtures and equipment also increased due to renovations at Gaylord Opryland. Depreciation expense of continuing operations for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was \$52.7 million, \$34.8 million and \$35.4 million, respectively. Capitalized interest for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was \$6.8 million, \$18.8 million and \$6.8 million, respectively.

9. Investments

Investments related to continuing operations at December 31 are summarized as follows (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Viacom Class B non-voting common stock	\$448,482	\$485,782
Bass Pro	60,598	60,598
Other investments		3,792
Total investments	\$509,080	\$550,172

The Company acquired CBS Series B convertible preferred stock (CBS Stock) during 1999 as consideration in the divestiture of television station KTVT. CBS merged with Viacom in May 2000. As a result of the merger of CBS and Viacom, the Company received 11,003,000 shares of Viacom Class B non-voting common stock (Viacom Stock). The original carrying value of the CBS Stock was \$485.0 million.

At December 31, 2000, the Viacom Stock was classified as available-for-sale as defined by SFAS No. 115, and accordingly, the Viacom Stock was recorded at market value, based upon the quoted market price, with the difference between cost and market value recorded as a component of other comprehensive income, net of deferred income taxes. In connection with the Company's adoption of SFAS No. 133, effective January 1, 2001, the Company recorded a nonrecurring pretax gain of \$29.4 million, related to reclassifying its investment in the Viacom Stock from available-for-sale to trading as defined by SFAS No. 115. This gain, net of taxes of \$11.4 million, had been previously recorded as a component of stockholders' equity. As trading securities, the Viacom Stock continues to be recorded at market value, but changes in market value are included as gains and losses in the consolidated statements of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded net pretax losses of \$37.3 million related to the decrease in fair value of the Viacom Stock. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded net pretax losses of \$28.6 million related to the decrease in fair value of the Viacom Stock subsequent to January 1, 2001.

Bass Pro completed a restructuring at the end of 1999 whereby certain assets, including a resort hotel in Southern Missouri and an interest in a manufacturer of fishing boats, are no longer owned by Bass Pro. Subsequent to the Bass Pro restructuring, the Company s ownership interest in Bass Pro equaled 19% and, accordingly, the Company accounts for the investment using the cost method of accounting. Prior to the restructuring, the Company accounted for the Bass Pro investment using the equity method of accounting through December 31, 1999.

64

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

During 1997, the Company purchased a 19.9% limited partnership interest in the Nashville Predators for \$12.0 million. The Company accounts for its investment using the equity method as required by EITF Issue No. 02-14, Whether the Equity Method of Accounting Applies When an Investor Does Not Have an Investment in Voting Stock of an Investee but Exercises Significant Influence through Other Means. The Company recorded its share of losses of \$1.4 million, \$3.9 million and \$2.0 million during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, resulting from the Nashville Predators net losses. The carrying value of the investment in the Predators was zero at December 31, 2002 and \$1.4 million at December 31, 2001. The Company has not reduced its investment below zero as the Company is not obligated to make future contributions to the Predators.

10. Secured Forward Exchange Contract

During May 2000, the Company entered into a seven-year secured forward exchange contract (SFEC) with an affiliate of Credit Suisse First Boston with respect to 10,937,900 shares of Viacom Stock. The seven-year SFEC has a notional amount of \$613.1 million and required contract payments based upon a stated 5% rate. The SFEC protects the Company against decreases in the fair market value of the Viacom Stock while providing for participation in increases in the fair market value, as discussed below. The Company realized cash proceeds from the SFEC of \$506.5 million, net of discounted prepaid contract payments and prepaid interest related to the first 3.25 years of the contract and transaction costs totaling \$106.6 million. In October 2000, the Company prepaid the remaining 3.75 years of contract interest payments required by the SFEC of \$83.2 million. As a result of the prepayment, the Company will not be required to make any further contract payments during the seven-year term of the SFEC. Additionally, as a result of the prepayment, the Company was released from certain covenants of the SFEC, which related to sales of assets, additional indebtedness and liens. The unamortized balances of the prepaid contract interest are classified as current assets of \$26.9 million as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and long-term assets of \$91.2 million and \$118.1 million in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company is recognizing the prepaid contract payments and deferred financing charges associated with the SFEC as interest expense over the seven-year contract period using the effective interest method. The Company utilized \$394.1 million of the net proceeds from the SFEC to repay all outstanding indebtedness under its 1997 revolving credit facility. As a result of the SFEC, the 1997 revolving credit facility was terminated.

The Company s obligation under the SFEC is collateralized by a security interest in the Company s Viacom Stock. At the end of the seven-year contract term, the Company may, at its option, elect to pay in cash rather than by delivery of all or a portion of the Viacom Stock. The SFEC eliminates the Company s exposure to any decline in Viacom s share price below \$56.05. During the seven-year term of the SFEC, if the Viacom Stock appreciates by 35% or less, the Company will retain the increase in value of the Viacom Stock. If the Viacom Stock appreciates by more than 35%, the Company will retain the first 35% increase in value of the Viacom Stock and approximately 25.9% of any appreciation in excess of 35%.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended, certain components of the secured forward exchange contract are considered derivatives, as discussed in Note 11.

11. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company utilizes derivative financial instruments to reduce interest rate risks and to manage risk exposure to changes in the value of its Viacom Stock. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended, the Company recorded a gain of \$11.2 million, net of taxes of \$7.1 million, as a cumulative effect of an accounting change effective January 1, 2001 to record the derivatives associated with the SFEC at fair value. For the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company recorded net pretax gains in the Company s consolidated statement of operations of \$86.5 million related to the increase in the

65

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

fair value of the derivatives associated with the SFEC. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded net pretax gains in the Company s consolidated statement of operations of \$54.3 million related to the increase in fair value of the derivatives associated with the SFEC subsequent to January 1, 2001.

During 2001, the Company entered into three contracts to cap its interest rate risk exposure on its long-term debt. Two of the contracts cap the Company s exposure to one-month LIBOR rates on up to \$375.0 million of outstanding indebtedness at 7.5%. Another interest rate cap, which caps the Company s exposure on one-month Eurodollar rates on up to \$100.0 million of outstanding indebtedness at 6.625%, expired in October 2002. These interest rate caps qualify for treatment as cash flow hedges in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 133, as amended. As such, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is initially recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a separate component of stockholder s equity and subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss, if any, is reported to income (expense) immediately.

12. Debt

The Company s debt and capital lease obligations related to continuing operations at December 31 consist of (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Senior Loan	\$213,185	\$268,997
Mezzanine Loan	66,000	100,000
Term Loan	60,000	100,000
Capital lease obligations	1,453	
Total debt	340,638	468,997
Less amounts due within one year	(8,526)	(88,004)
Total long-term debt	\$332,112	\$380,993

Annual maturities of long-term debt, excluding capital lease obligations, are as follows (amounts in thousands). Note 16 discusses the capital lease obligations in more detail, including annual maturities.

	Debt
2003	\$ 8,004
2004	331,181
2005	
2006	
2007	
Years thereafter	
Total	\$339,185

Term Loan

During 2001, the Company entered into a three-year delayed-draw senior term loan (the Term Loan) of up to \$210.0 million with Deutsche Banc Alex. Brown Inc., Salomon Smith Barney, Inc. and CIBC World Markets Corp. (collectively the Banks). Proceeds of the Term Loan were used to finance the construction of Gaylord Palms and the initial construction phases of the Gaylord hotel in Texas as well

66

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

as for general operating purposes. The Term Loan is primarily secured by the Company s ground lease interest in Gaylord Palms. At the Company s option, amounts outstanding under the Term Loan bear interest at the prime interest rate plus 2.125% or the one-month Eurodollar rate plus 3.375%. The terms of the Term Loan required the purchase of interest rate hedges in notional amounts equal to \$100.0 million in order to protect against adverse changes in the one-month Eurodollar rate. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company purchased instruments that cap its exposure to the one-month Eurodollar rate at 6.625% as discussed in Note 11. The Term Loan contains provisions that allow the Banks to syndicate the Term Loan, which could result in a change to the terms and structure of the Term Loan, including an increase in interest rates. In addition, the Company is required to pay a commitment fee equal to 0.375% per year of the average unused portion of the Term Loan.

During the first three months of 2002, the Company sold Word's domestic operations as described in Note 5, which required the prepayment of the Term Loan in the amount of \$80.0 million and, accordingly, this amount was classified as due within one year at December 31, 2001. As required by the Term Loan, the Company used \$15.9 million of the net cash proceeds, as defined under the Term Loan agreement, received from the sale of the Opry Mills investment described in Note 7 to reduce the outstanding balance of the Term Loan. In addition, the Company used \$25.0 million of the net cash proceeds, as defined under the Term Loan agreement, received from the sale of Acuff-Rose Music Publishing to reduce the outstanding balance of the Term Loan. Also during 2002, the Company made a principal payment of approximately \$4.1 million under the Term Loan. Net borrowings under the Term Loan for 2002 and 2001 were \$85.0 million and \$100.0 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had outstanding borrowings of \$60.0 million and \$100.0 million, respectively, under the Term Loan and was required to escrow certain amounts in a completion reserve account for Gaylord Palms. The Company s ability to borrow additional funds under the Term Loan expired during 2002. However, the lenders could reinstate the Company s ability to borrow additional funds at a future date.

This instrument expired in the fourth quarter of 2002. Due to the expiration of the interest rate instrument, the Company was out of compliance with the terms of the Term Loan. Subsequent to December 31, 2002, the Company entered into the First Amendment to the Mezzanine Loan whereby the lender waived this event of non-compliance as of December 31, 2002 and also removed the requirement to maintain such instruments for the remainder of the term of the loan. The maximum amount available under the Term Loan reduces to \$50.0 million in April 2004, with full repayment due in October 2004. Debt repayments under the Term Loan reduce its borrowing capacity and are not eligible to be re-borrowed. The Term Loan requires the Company to maintain certain escrowed cash balances, comply with certain financial covenants, and imposes limitations related to the payment of dividends, the incurrence of debt, the guaranty of liens, and the sale of assets, as well as other customary covenants and restrictions. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the unamortized balance of the deferred financing costs related to the Term Loan for 2002 and 2001 was 9.6% and 8.3%, respectively. The weighted average interest rate, including amortization of deferred financing costs, under the Term Loan for 2002 and 2001 was 9.6% and 8.3%, respectively. The weighted average interest rate of 9.6% for 2002 includes 4.5% related to commitment fees and the amortization of deferred financing costs.

Senior Loan and Mezzanine Loan

In 2001, the Company, through wholly owned subsidiaries, entered into two loan agreements, a \$275.0 million senior loan (the Senior Loan) and a \$100.0 million mezzanine loan (the Mezzanine Loan) (collectively, the Nashville Hotel Loans) with affiliates of Merrill Lynch & Company acting as principal. The Senior Loan is secured by a first mortgage lien on the assets of Gaylord Opryland and is due in 2004. Amounts outstanding under the Senior Loan bear interest at one-month LIBOR plus approximately 1.02%. The Mezzanine Loan, secured by the equity interest in the wholly-owned subsidiary

67

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

that owns Gaylord Opryland, is due in 2004 and bears interest at one-month LIBOR plus 6.0%. At the Company s option, the Nashville Hotel Loans may be extended for two additional one-year terms beyond their scheduled maturities, subject to Gaylord Opryland meeting certain financial ratios and other criteria. The Nashville Hotel Loans require monthly principal payments of \$0.7 million during their three-year terms in addition to monthly interest payments. The terms of the Senior Loan and the Mezzanine Loan required the purchase of interest rate hedges in notional amounts equal to the outstanding balances of the Senior Loan and the Mezzanine Loan in order to protect against adverse changes in one-month LIBOR. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company has purchased instruments that cap its exposure to one-month LIBOR at 7.5% as discussed in Note 11. The Company used \$235.0 million of the proceeds from the Nashville Hotel Loans to refinance the Interim Loan discussed below. At closing, the Company was required to escrow certain amounts, including \$20.0 million related to future renovations and related capital expenditures at Gaylord Opryland. The net proceeds from the Nashville Hotel Loans after refinancing of the Interim Loan and paying required escrows and fees were approximately \$97.6 million. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the unamortized balance of the deferred financing costs related to the Nashville Hotel Loans was \$7.3 million and \$13.8 million, respectively. The weighted average interest rates for the Senior Loan for 2002 and 2001, including amortization of deferred financing costs, were 4.5% and 6.2%, respectively. The weighted average interest rates for the Mezzanine Loan for 2002 and 2001, including amortization of deferred financing costs, were 10.5% and 12.0%, respectively.

The terms of the Nashville Hotel Loans require that the Company maintain certain escrowed cash balances and comply with certain financial covenants, and impose limits on transactions with affiliates and indebtedness. The financial covenants under the Nashville Hotel Loans are structured such that noncompliance at one level triggers certain cash management restrictions and noncompliance at a second level results in an event of default. Based upon the financial covenant calculations at December 31, 2002 and 2001, the cash management restrictions were in effect which requires that all excess cash flows, as defined, be escrowed and may be used to repay principal amounts owed on the Senior Loan. At December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, \$0 and \$13.9 million, respectively, related to the cash management restrictions is included in restricted cash in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. During 2002, the Company negotiated certain revisions to the financial covenants under the Nashville Hotel Loans and the Term Loan. After these revisions, the Company was in compliance with the covenants under the Nashville Hotel Loans and the covenants under the Ferm Loan in which the failure to comply would result in an event of default at December 31, 2002 and 2001. There can be no assurance that the Company will remain in compliance with the covenants that would result in an event of default under the Nashville Hotel Loans or the Term Loan. The Company believes it has certain other possible alternatives to reduce borrowings outstanding under the Nashville Hotel Loans which would allow the Company to remedy any event of default. Any event of noncompliance that results in an event of default under the Nashville Hotel Loans or the Term Loan would enable the lenders to demand payment of all outstanding amounts, which would have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

During the second quarter of 2002, like other companies in the hospitality industry, the Company was notified by the insurers providing its property and casualty insurance that policies issued upon renewal would no longer include coverage for terrorist acts. As a result, the servicer for the Senior Loan notified the Company in May of 2002 that it believed the lack of insurance covering terrorist acts and certain related matters did constitute an event of default under the terms of that credit facility. Although coverage for terrorist acts was never specifically required as part of the required property and casualty coverage, the Company determined to resolve this issue by obtaining coverage for terrorist acts. The Company has obtained coverage in an amount equal to the outstanding balance of the Senior Loan. During the third quarter of 2002, the Company received notice from the servicer that any previous existing defaults were cured and coverage in an amount equal to the outstanding balance of the loan satisfied the requirements of

68

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

the Senior Loan. The servicer has reserved the right to impose additional insurance requirements if there is a change in, among other things, the availability or cost of terrorism insurance coverage, the risk of terrorist activity, or legislation affecting the rights of lenders to require borrowers to maintain terrorism insurance. Based upon the Company s curing any default which may have existed, this debt continues to be classified as long-term in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Interim Loan

During 2000, the Company entered into a six-month \$200.0 million interim loan agreement (the Interim Loan) with Merrill Lynch Mortgage Capital, Inc. During 2000, the Company utilized \$83.2 million of the proceeds from the Interim Loan to prepay the remaining contract payments required by the SFEC discussed in Note 10. During 2001, the Company increased the borrowing capacity under the Interim Loan to \$250.0 million. The Company used \$235.0 million of the proceeds from the Nashville Hotel Loans discussed previously to refinance the Interim Loan during March 2001. The Interim Loan required a commitment fee of 0.375% per year on the average unused portion of the Interim Loan and a contingent exit fee of up to \$4.0 million, depending upon Merrill Lynch s involvement in the refinancing of the Interim Loan. The Company recognized a portion of the exit fee as interest expense in the accompanying 2000 consolidated statement of operations. Pursuant to the terms of the Nashville Hotel Loans discussed previously, the contingencies related to the exit fee were removed and no payment of these fees was required.

1997 Credit Facility

In August 1997, the Company entered into a revolving credit facility (the 1997 Credit Facility) and utilized the proceeds to retire outstanding indebtedness. The Company utilized \$394.1 million of the net proceeds from the SFEC in 2000 to repay all outstanding indebtedness under the 1997 Credit Facility as discussed in Note 10. As a result of the SFEC, the 1997 Credit Facility was terminated.

Accrued interest payable at December 31, 2002 and 2001 was \$0.6 million and \$1.1 million, respectively, and is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

13. Income Taxes

The provision (benefit) for income taxes from continuing operations consists of the following (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001	2000
Current:			
Federal	\$	\$	\$ (326)
State	1,336	(32)	304
Total current provision (benefit)	1,336	(32)	(22)
Deferred:			
Federal	32	(8,657)	(51,796)
State	(1,393)	(453)	(513)
Total deferred benefit	(1,361)	(9,110)	(52,309)
Effect of tax law change	1,343		
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes	\$ 1,318	\$(9,142)	\$(52,331)

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The tax benefits associated with the exercise of stock options during the years ended 2002, 2001, and 2000 were \$27,700, \$0.7 million and \$1.0 million, respectively, and are reflected as an increase in additional paid-in capital in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders equity.

During 2002, the Tennessee legislature increased the corporate income tax rate from 6% to 6.5%. As a result, the Company increased the deferred tax liability by \$1.3 million and increased 2002 tax expense by \$1.3 million.

The effective tax rate as applied to pretax income (loss) from continuing operations differed from the statutory federal rate due to the following:

	2002	2001	2000
U.S. federal statutory rate	35%	35%	35%
State taxes, (net of federal tax benefit and change in valuation allowance)		2	
Effective tax law change	7		
Previously accrued income taxes	(37)	16	(1)
Other	5	(6)	(1)
			_
	10%	47%	33%

Provision is made for deferred federal and state income taxes in recognition of certain temporary differences in reporting items of income and expense for financial statement purposes and income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company s deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Deferred tax assets:		
Accounting reserves and accruals	\$ 20,553	\$ 23,438
Defined benefit plan	8,360	2,704
Goodwill and other intangibles	5,149	4,082
Investments in stock & partnerships	4,681	11,944
Forward exchange contract	28,111	17,524
Net operating loss carryforwards	15,296	107,236
Tax credits & other carryforwards	7,085	6,417
Other assets	540	2,415
Total deferred tax assets	89,775	175,760
Valuation allowance	(11,403)	(10,703)
Total deferred tax assets, net of allowance	78,372	165,057
Total deferred tax assets, net of anowance	70,372	103,037
Deferred tax liabilities:		
Property and equipment, net	72,085	65,425
Investments in stock & derivatives	227,379	207,156
Other liabilities	2,727	7,637
outer numines		7,037
Total deferred tax liabilities	302,191	280,218

Net deferred tax liabilities

\$223,819

\$115,161

At December 31, 2002, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of \$4.8 million which will begin to expire in 2020. In addition, the Company had federal minimum tax credits of

70

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

\$5.4 million that will not expire and other federal tax credits of \$0.3 million that will begin to expire in 2018. State net operating loss carryforwards at December 31, 2002 totaled \$306.8 million and will expire between 2003 and 2017. Foreign net operating loss carryforwards at December 31, 2002 totaled \$2.5 million and will expire between 2010 and 2012. The use of certain state and foreign net operating losses and other state and foreign deferred tax assets are limited to the future taxable earnings of separate legal entities. As a result, a valuation allowance has been provided for certain state and foreign deferred tax assets, including loss carryforwards. The change in valuation allowance was \$(0.7) million, \$(0.7) million and \$(5.7) million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Based on the expectation of future taxable income, management believes that it is more likely than not that the results of operations will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the deferred tax assets after giving consideration to the valuation allowance.

Deferred income taxes resulting from the unrealized gain on the investment in the Viacom Stock were \$11.4 million at December 31, 2000 and were reflected as a reduction in stockholders—equity. Effective January 1, 2001, the Company reclassified its investment in the Viacom Stock from available-for-sale to trading as defined by SFAS No. 115, which required the recognition of a deferred tax provision of \$11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. These amounts are reflected in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2002.

During the years ended 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company recognized provision (benefits) of \$(4.9) million, \$(3.2) million and \$1.1 million, respectively, related to the settlement of certain federal income tax issues with the Internal Revenue Service as well as the closing of open tax years for federal and state tax purposes. The Company reached a \$2.0 million partial settlement of Internal Revenue Service audits of the Company s 1996-1997 tax returns during 2001. The Company reached a final settlement for the 1996 through 1998 years in 2002 with a net cash payment of \$0.1 million. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company received an income tax refund of \$64.6 million in cash from the U.S. Department of Treasury as a result of the net operating losses carry-back provisions of the Job Creation and Worker Assistance Act of 2002. Net cash refunds for income taxes were approximately \$63.2 million, \$21.7 million and \$18.5 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

14. Stockholders Equity

Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share. During 2000, the Company s Board of Directors voted to discontinue the payment of dividends on its common stock.

15. Stock Plans

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, 3,241,037 and 3,053,737 shares, respectively, of the Company s common stock were reserved for future issuance pursuant to the exercise of stock options under the stock option and incentive plan. Under the terms of this plan, stock options are granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value at the date of grant and generally expire ten years after the date of grant. Generally, stock options granted to non-employee directors are exercisable immediately, while options granted to employees are exercisable two to five years from the date of grant. The Company accounts for this plan under APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations, under which no compensation expense for employee and non-employee director stock options has been recognized.

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively: risk-free interest rates of 4.1%, 4.7% and 6.4%; expected volatility of 33.1%, 34.2% and 30.2%; expected lives of 4.3, 5.4 and 7.3 years; expected dividend rates of 0% for all years. The weighted average fair value of options granted was \$8.16, \$10.10 and \$12.83 in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

71

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The plan also provides for the award of restricted stock. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, awards of restricted stock of 86,025 and 109,867 shares, respectively, of common stock were outstanding. The market value at the date of grant of these restricted shares was recorded as unearned compensation as a component of stockholders—equity. Unearned compensation is amortized and expensed over the vesting period of the restricted stock.

Stock option awards available for future grant under the stock plan at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were 956,181 and 1,177,345 shares of common stock, respectively. Stock option transactions under the plans are summarized as follows:

2002	2	2001	l	2000)
Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Shares	Weighted Average Exercise Price
3,053,737	\$26.60	2,352,712	\$26.38	2,604,213	\$25.74
635,475	24.26	1,544,600	25.35	749,700	26.65
(29,198)	22.63	(203,543)	11.44	(178,335)	10.36
(418,977)	26.33	(640,032)	27.59	(822,866)	28.10
			·		
3,241,037	\$26.21	3,053,737	\$26.60	2,352,712	\$26.38
1,569,697	\$27.27	1,235,324	\$27.39	1,138,681	\$24.18
	Number of Shares 3,053,737 635,475 (29,198) (418,977) 3,241,037	Number of Shares Average Exercise Price 3,053,737 \$26.60 635,475 24.26 (29,198) 22.63 (418,977) 26.33 3,241,037 \$26.21	Number of Shares Weighted Average Exercise Price Number of Shares 3,053,737 \$26.60 2,352,712 635,475 24.26 1,544,600 (29,198) 22.63 (203,543) (418,977) 26.33 (640,032) 3,241,037 \$26.21 3,053,737	Number of Shares Weighted Average Exercise Price Number of Shares Weighted Average Exercise Price 3,053,737 \$26.60 2,352,712 \$26.38 635,475 24.26 1,544,600 25.35 (29,198) 22.63 (203,543) 11.44 (418,977) 26.33 (640,032) 27.59 3,241,037 \$26.21 3,053,737 \$26.60	Number of Shares Weighted Average Exercise Price Number of Shares Weighted Average Exercise Price Number of Shares 3,053,737 \$26.60 2,352,712 \$26.38 2,604,213 635,475 24.26 1,544,600 25.35 749,700 (29,198) 22.63 (203,543) 11.44 (178,335) (418,977) 26.33 (640,032) 27.59 (822,866) 3,241,037 \$26.21 3,053,737 \$26.60 2,352,712

A summary of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2002 is as follows:

	Option Exercise Price Range	Weighted Average Exercise Price	Number of Shares	Number of Shares Exercisable	Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life
\$18.55	22.00	\$20.64	258,545	110,420	6.4 YEARS
22.01	26.00	24.39	1,271,230	392,330	7.6 YEARS
26.01	30.00	27.67	1,456,096	854,446	6.8 YEARS
30.01	34.00	32.51	255,166	212,501	5.4 YEARS
\$18.55	34.00	\$27.27	3,241,037	1,569,697	7.0 YEARS

The Company has an employee stock purchase plan whereby substantially all employees are eligible to participate in the purchase of designated shares of the Company s common stock at a price equal to the lower of 85% of the closing price at the beginning or end of each quarterly stock purchase period. The Company issued 14,753, 11,965 and 13,666 shares of common stock at an average price of \$17.47, \$18.27 and \$21.19 pursuant to this plan during 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

Capital Leases

During 2002, the Company entered into three capital leases. There were no capital leases in effect at December 31, 2001. In the accompanying consolidated balance sheet, the following amounts of assets

72

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

under capitalized lease agreements are included in property and equipment and other long-term assets and the related obligations are included in debt (amounts in thousands):

	2002
Property and equipment	\$1,965
Other long-term assets	412
Accumulated depreciation	(144)
Net assets under capital leases in property and equipment	\$2,233
Current lease obligations	\$ 522
Long-term lease obligations	931
Capital lease obligations	\$1,453

Operating Leases

Rental expense related to continuing operations for operating leases was \$13.1 million, \$2.7 million and \$2.6 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in 2002 is related to the operating land lease for Gaylord Palms as discussed below. Of the \$13.2 million of rental expense for 2002, \$6.5 million relates to non-cash lease expense as discussed below.

Future minimum cash lease commitments under all noncancelable leases in effect for continuing operations at December 31, 2002 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

	Capital Leases	Operating Leases
2003	\$ 560	\$ 6,150
2004	741	5,641
2005	178	4,661
2006	89	3,370
2007		3,466
Years thereafter		683,099
Total minimum lease payments	1,568	\$706,387
Less amount representing interest	(115)	
	1.452	
Total present value of minimum payments	1,453	
Less current portion of obligations	(522)	
Long-term obligations	\$ 931	

The Company entered into a 75-year operating lease agreement during 1999 for 65.3 acres of land located in Osceola County, Florida for the development of Gaylord Palms. The lease requires annual lease payments of approximately \$0.9 million until the completion of construction in 2002, at which point the annual lease payments increased to approximately \$3.2 million. The lease agreement provides for a 3% escalation of

base rent each year beginning five years after the opening of Gaylord Palms. As required by SFAS No. 13, and related interpretations, the terms of this lease require that the Company recognize lease expense on a straight-line basis, which resulted in an annual lease expense of approximately \$9.8 million for 2002, including approximately \$6.5 million of non-cash expenses during 2002. The Company is currently attempting to renegotiate certain terms of the lease in an attempt to more closely align the economic cost of the lease with the impact on the Company s results of operations. At the end of the 75-year lease term, the Company may extend the operating lease to January 31, 2101, at which point the

73

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

buildings and fixtures will be transferred to the lessor. The Company also records contingent rentals based upon net revenues associated with the Gaylord Palms operations. The Company recorded \$0.6 million of contingent rentals related to the Gaylord Palms subsequent to its January 2002 opening.

Other Commitments

The Company was notified during 1997 by Nashville governmental authorities of an increase in the appraised value and property tax rates related to Gaylord Opryland resulting in an increased tax assessment. The Company contested the increases and was awarded a partial reduction in the assessed values. During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company recognized a pretax charge to operations of \$1.1 million for the resolution of the property tax dispute.

During 1999, the Company entered into a 20-year naming rights agreement related to the Nashville Arena with the Nashville Predators. The Nashville Arena has been renamed the Gaylord Entertainment Center as a result of the agreement. The contractual commitment required the Company to pay \$2.1 million during the first year of the contract, with a 5% escalation each year for the remaining term of the agreement. The Company is accounting for the naming rights agreement expense on a straight-line basis over the 20-year contract period. The Company recognized naming rights expense of \$3.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, which is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The Company has purchased stop-loss coverage in order to limit its exposure to any significant levels of claims relating to workers compensation, employee medical benefits and general liability for which it is self-insured.

The Company has entered into employment agreements with certain officers, which provides for severance payments upon certain events, including a change of control.

The Company, in the ordinary course of business, is involved in certain legal actions and claims on a variety of other matters. It is the opinion of management that such legal actions will not have a material effect on the results of operations, financial condition or liquidity of the Company.

17. Retirement Plans

Prior to January 1, 2001, the Company maintained a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan in which substantially all of its employees were eligible to participate upon meeting the pension plan s participation requirements. The benefits were based on years of service and compensation levels. On January 1, 2001 the Company amended its defined benefit pension plan to determine future benefits using a cash balance formula. On December 31, 2000, benefits credited under the plan s previous formula were frozen. Under the cash formula, each participant had an account which was credited monthly with 3% of qualified earnings and the interest earned on their previous month-end cash balance. In addition, the Company included a grandfather clause which assures that the participant will receive the greater of the benefit calculated under the cash balance plan and the benefit that would have been payable if the defined benefit plan had remained in existence. The benefit payable to a vested participant upon retirement at age 65, or age 55 with 15 years of service, is equal to the participant s account balance, which increases based upon length of service and compensation levels. At retirement, the employee generally receives the balance in the account as a lump sum. The funding policy of the Company is to contribute annually an amount which equals or exceeds the minimum required by applicable law.

74

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table sets forth the funded status at December 31 (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Change in benefit obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$ 58,712	\$ 57,608
Service cost	,,-	2,592
Interest cost	3,964	4,288
Amendments		1,867
Actuarial loss (gain)	5,359	(2,763)
Benefits paid	(5,021)	(4,880)
Curtailment	(3,800)	
Benefit obligation at end of year	59,214	58,712
Change in plan assets:		
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	44,202	52,538
Actual loss on plan assets	(3,870)	(6,030)
Employer contributions	1,794	2,574
Benefits paid	(5,021)	(4,880)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	37,105	44,202
Funded status	(22,109)	(14,510)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss	22,944	14,829
Unrecognized prior service cost	,	3,750
Adjustment for minimum liability	(22,944)	(14,779)
·		
Accrued pension cost	\$(22,109)	\$(10,710)
-		

Net periodic pension expense reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations included the following components for the years ended December 31 (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001	2000
Service cost	\$	\$ 2,592	\$ 2,564
Interest cost	3,964	4,288	3,911
Expected return on plan assets	(3,395)	(4,131)	(3,963)
Recognized net actuarial loss	710	169	107
Amortization of prior service cost		402	211
Curtailment loss	3,750		
Total net periodic pension expense	\$ 5,029	\$ 3,320	\$ 2,830

The weighted-average discount rate used in determining the actuarial present value of the projected benefit obligation was 7.0% for 2002, and 7.5% for 2001. The rate of increase in future compensation levels used was 4% and the assumed expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was 8%. Plan assets are invested in a diverse portfolio that primarily consists of equity and debt securities.

The Company also maintains non-qualified retirement plans (the Non-Qualified Plans) to provide benefits to certain key employees. The Non-Qualified Plans are not funded and the beneficiaries rights to receive distributions under these plans constitute unsecured claims to be paid from the Company s general

75

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

assets. At December 31, 2002, the Non-Qualified Plans projected benefit obligations and accumulated benefit obligations were \$10.3 million.

The Company's accrued cost related to its qualified and non-qualified retirement plans of \$32.4 million and \$20.8 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, is included in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The 2002 increase in the minimum liability related to the Company's retirement plans resulted in a charge to equity of \$7.2 million, net of taxes of \$4.7 million. The 2001 increase in the minimum liability related to the Company's retirement plans resulted in a charge to equity of \$7.7 million, net of taxes of \$4.9 million. The 2002 and 2001 charges to equity due to the increase in the minimum liability are included in other comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated statements of stockholders' equity.

The Company also has contributory retirement savings plans in which substantially all employees are eligible to participate. The Company contributes an amount equal to the lesser of one-half of the amount of the employee s contribution or 3% of the employee s salary. In addition, effective January 1, 2002, the Company contributes 2% to 4% of the employee s salary, based upon the Company s financial performance. Company contributions under the retirement savings plans were \$3.8 million, \$1.5 million and \$1.6 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

Effective December 31, 2001, the Company amended its retirement plans and its retirement savings plan whereby the retirement cash balance benefit was frozen and whereby future Company contributions to the retirement savings plan will include 2% to 4% of the employee s salary, based upon the Company s financial performance, in addition to the one-half match of the employee s salary up to a maximum of 3% as described above. As a result of these changes to the retirement plans, the Company recorded a pretax charge to operations of \$5.7 million in the first quarter of 2002 related to the write-off of unamortized prior service cost in accordance with SFAS No. 88, Employers Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits, and related interpretations.

18. Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions

The Company sponsors unfunded defined benefit postretirement health care and life insurance plans for certain employees. The Company contributes toward the cost of health insurance benefits and contributes the full cost of providing life insurance benefits. In order to be eligible for these postretirement benefits, an employee must retire after attainment of age 55 and completion of 15 years of service, or attainment of age 65 and completion of 10 years of service. The Company s Benefits Trust Committee determines retiree premiums.

76

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table reconciles the change in benefit obligation of the postretirement plans to the accrued postretirement liability as reflected in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets at December 31 (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001
Change in benefit obligation:		
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$13,665	\$12,918
Service cost	306	688
Interest cost	1,353	946
Actuarial loss	862	
Contributions by plan participants	142	101
Benefits paid	(987)	(988)
Remeasurements	9,054	
Amendments	(4,673)	
Benefit obligation at end of year	19,722	13,665
Unrecognized net actuarial gain	4,406	13,038
Accrued postretirement liability	\$24,128	\$26,703

Net postretirement benefit expense reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations included the following components for the years ended December 31 (amounts in thousands):

	2002	2001	2000
Service cost	\$ 306	\$ 688	\$ 736
Interest cost	1,353	946	923
Curtailment gain	(2,105)		
Recognized net actuarial gain	(1,284)	(826)	(811)
Net postretirement benefit expense	\$(1,730)	\$ 808	\$ 848

The health care cost trend is projected to be 10.75% in 2003, declining each year thereafter to an ultimate level trend rate of 5.5% per year for 2009 and beyond. The health care cost trend rates are not applicable to the life insurance benefit plan. The health care cost trend rate assumption has a significant effect on the amounts reported. To illustrate, a 1% increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate each year would increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2002 by approximately 9% and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net postretirement benefit expense would increase approximately 10%. Conversely, a 1% decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation as of December 31, 2002 by approximately 8% and the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net postretirement benefit expense would decrease approximately 10%. The weighted-average discount rate used in determining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 7.0% for 2002 and 7.5% for 2001.

The Company amended the plans effective December 31, 2001 such that only active employees whose age plus years of service total at least 60 and who have at least 10 years of service as of December 31, 2001 remain eligible. The amendment and curtailment of the plans were recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 106, Employers Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions, and related interpretations.

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

19. Goodwill and Intangibles

The transitional provisions of SFAS No. 142 require the Company to perform an assessment of whether goodwill is impaired as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which the statement is adopted. Under the transitional provisions of SFAS No. 142, the first step is for the Company to evaluate whether the reporting unit s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. If the reporting unit s carrying amount exceeds it fair value, the second step of the impairment test must be completed. During the second step, the Company must compare the implied fair value of the reporting unit s goodwill, determined by allocating the reporting unit s fair value to all of its assets and liabilities in a manner similar to a purchase price allocation in accordance with SFAS No. 141, to its carrying amount.

The Company completed the transitional goodwill impairment reviews required by SFAS No. 142 during the second quarter of 2002. In performing the impairment reviews, the Company estimated the fair values of the reporting units using a present value method that discounted estimated future cash flows. Such valuations are sensitive to assumptions associated with cash flow growth, discount rates and capital rates. In performing the impairment reviews, the Company determined one reporting unit s goodwill to be impaired. Based on the estimated fair value of the reporting unit, the Company impaired the recorded goodwill amount of \$4.2 million associated with the Radisson Hotel at Opryland in the hospitality segment. The circumstances leading to the goodwill impairment assessment for the Radisson Hotel at Opryland primarily relate to the effect of the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks on the hospitality and tourism industries. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the Company has reflected the impairment charge as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle in the amount of \$2.6 million, net of tax benefit of \$1.6 million, as of January 1, 2002 in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

The Company performed the annual impairment review on all goodwill at December 31, 2002 and determined that no further impairment, other than the goodwill impairment of the Radisson Hotel at Opryland as discussed above, would be required during 2002.

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill by business segment for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 are as follows (amounts in thousands):

Balance as of December 31, 2001	Transitional Impairment Losses	Balance as of December 31, 2002
\$ 4,221	\$(4,221)	\$
6,915		6,915
\$11,136	\$(4,221)	\$6,915
78		
	\$ 4,221 6,915	December 31,

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table presents a reconciliation of net income and income per share assuming the nonamortization provisions of SFAS No. 142 were applied during the years ended December 31 (amounts in thousands, except per share data):

	2002	2001	2000
Reported net income (loss)	\$95,144	\$(47,796)	\$(156,056)
Add back: Goodwill amortization, net of tax		1,360	4,556
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$95,144	\$(46,436)	\$(151,500)
Basic earnings (loss) per share			
Reported net income (loss)	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.42)	\$ (4.67)
Add back: Goodwill amortization, net of tax		0.04	0.14
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.38)	\$ (4.53)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share			
Reported net income (loss)	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.42)	\$ (4.67)
Add back: Goodwill amortization, net of tax		0.04	0.14
Adjusted net income (loss)	\$ 2.82	\$ (1.38)	\$ (4.53)

The above goodwill amortization during 2000 includes \$4.1 million of amortization related to the acquisitions for Gaylord Digital as discussed in Note 6.

The Company also reassessed the useful lives and classification of identifiable finite-lived intangible assets and determined the lives of these intangible assets to be appropriate. The carrying amount of amortized intangible assets in continuing operations, including the intangible assets related to benefit plans, was \$2.4 million and \$6.7 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in intangible assets during 2002 is primarily related to the reclassification of the intangible asset related to the benefit plan as discussed in Note 17. The related accumulated amortization of intangible assets in continuing operations was \$445,000 and \$387,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The amortization expense related to intangibles from continuing operations during the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was \$58,000 and \$59,000, respectively. The estimated amounts of amortization expense for the next five years are equivalent to \$58,000 per year.

20. Financial Reporting by Business Segments

The following information (amounts in thousands) from continuing operations is derived directly from the segments internal financial reports used for corporate management purposes. The Company has revised its reportable segments during the first quarter of 2003 due to the Company s decision to divest of the Radio Operations.

	Year Ended December 31, 2002	Year Ended December 31, 2001	Year Ended December 31, 2000
Revenues:			
Hospitality	\$339,380	\$228,712	\$237,260
Attractions	65,600	67,064	69,283

Corporate and other	272	290	64
Total	\$405,252	\$ 296,066	\$306,607
	79		

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

	Year Ended December 31, 2002	Year Ended December 31, 2001	Year Ended December 31, 2000
Depreciation and amortization:			
Hospitality	\$ 44,924	\$ 25,593	\$ 24,447
Attractions	5,778	6,270	13,955
Corporate and other	5,778	6,542	6,257
Total	\$ 56,480	\$ 38,405	\$ 44,659
Operating income (Loss):			
Hospitality	\$ 25,972	\$ 34,270	\$ 45,478
Attractions	1,596	(5,010)	(44,413)
Corporate and other	(42,111)	(40,110)	(38,187)
Preopening costs	(8,913)	(15,927)	(5,278)
Gain on sale of assets	30,529	(10,>27)	(0,2,0)
Impairment and other charges	,	(14,262)	(75,660)
Restructuring charges	17	(2,182)	(12,952)
8			
Total	\$ 7.090	\$ (43,221)	\$ (131,012)
Total	Ψ 7,000	Ψ (+3,221)	Ψ (131,012)
Identifiable assets:			
Hospitality	\$1,056,434	\$ 947,646	\$ 660,289
Attractions	85,530	90,912	101,521
Corporate and other	1,032,809	998,916	899,949
Discontinued operations	17,423	140,170	269,046
•			
Total	\$2,192,196	\$2,177,644	\$1,930,805

The following table represents the capital expenditures for continuing operations by segment for the years ended December 31 (amounts in thousands).

	2002	2001	2000
Capital expenditures			
Hospitality	\$170,522	\$277,643	\$201,720
Attractions	3,285	2,471	6,973
Corporate and other	11,842	807	8,168
Total	\$185,649	\$280,921	\$216,861

21. Subsequent Events

The Company has revised its reportable segments during the first quarter of 2003 due to the Company s decision to dispose of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). During the first quarter of 2003, the Company committed to a plan of disposal of the Radio Operations. Subsequent to committing to a plan of disposal during the first quarter, the Company, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into an agreement to sell the assets

primarily used in the operations of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM) to Cumulus in exchange for approximately \$62.5 million in cash. In connection with this agreement, the Company also entered into a local marketing agreement with Cumulus pursuant to which, from April 21, 2003 until the closing of the sale of the assets, the Company, for a fee, made available to Cumulus substantially all of the broadcast time on WSM-FM and WWTN(FM). In turn, Cumulus provided programming to be broadcast

80

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

during such broadcast time and collected revenues from the advertising that it sold for broadcast during this programming time. On July 21, 2003, the Company finalized the sale of WSM-FM and WWTN(FM) for approximately \$62.5 million. At the time of the sale, net proceeds of approximately \$50 million were placed in an escrow account for completion of the Texas hotel. Concurrently, the Company also entered into a joint sales agreement with Cumulus for WSM-AM in exchange for \$2.5 million in cash. The Company will continue to own and operate WSM-AM, and under the terms of the joint sales agreement with Cumulus, Cumulus will be responsible for all sales of commercial advertising on WSM-AM and provide certain sales promotion, billing and collection services relating to WSM-AM, all for a specified commission. The joint sales agreement has a term of five years.

During May of 2003, the Company finalized a \$225 million credit facility (the 2003 Loans) with Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, Bank of America, N.A., CIBC Inc. and a syndicate of other lenders. The 2003 Loans consist of a \$25 million senior revolving facility, a \$150 million senior term loan and a \$50 million subordinated term loan. The 2003 Loans are due in 2006. The senior loan bears interest of LIBOR plus 3.5%. The subordinated loan bears interest of LIBOR plus 8.0%. The 2003 Loans are secured by the Gaylord Palms assets and the Gaylord hotel in Texas. At the time of closing the 2003 Loans, the Company engaged LIBOR interest rate swaps which fixed the LIBOR rates of the 2003 Loans at 1.48% in year one and 2.09% in year two. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee equal to 0.5% per year of the average daily unused portion of the 2003 Loans. Proceeds of the 2003 Loans were used to pay off the Term Loan of \$60 million as discussed below and the remaining net proceeds of approximately \$134 million were deposited into an escrow account for the completion of the construction of the Gaylord hotel in Texas.

On November 12, 2003, the Company completed its offering of \$350 million in aggregate principal amount of senior notes due 2013 (the Senior Notes) in an institutional private placement. The interest rate of the Senior Notes is 8%, although the Company has entered into interest rate swaps with respect to \$125 million principal amount of the Senior Notes which results in an effective interest rate of LIBOR plus 2.95% with respect to that portion of the Senior Notes. The Senior Notes, which mature on November 15, 2013, bear interest semi-annually in cash in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, starting on May 15, 2004. The Senior Notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at any time on or after November 15, 2008 at a designated redemption amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, the Company may redeem up to 35% of the Senior Notes before November 15, 2006 with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings. The Senior Notes rank equally in right of payment with the Company s other unsecured unsubordinated debt, but are effectively subordinated to all of the Company s subsidiaries that was a borrower or guarantor under the 2003 Loans, and as of November 2003, of the new revolving credit facility. The net proceeds from the offering of the Senior Notes, together with the Company s cash on hand, were used as follows:

\$275.6 million was used to repay the \$150 million senior term loan portion and the \$50 million subordinated term loan portion of the 2003 Loans, as well as the remaining \$66 million of the Company s \$100 million Mezzanine Loan and to pay certain estimated fees and expenses related to the ResortQuest acquisition; and

\$79.2 million was placed in escrow pending consummation of the ResortQuest acquisition, at which time that amount was used, together with available cash, to repay ResortQuest s senior notes and its credit facility.

On November 20, 2003, the Company entered into a new \$65.0 million revolving credit facility, which has been increased to \$100.0 million. The new revolving credit facility, which replaced the revolving credit portion under the 2003 Florida/Texas senior secured credit facility, matures in May 2006 and borrowings thereunder bear interest at a rate of either LIBOR plus 3.50% or the lending banks base rate plus 2.25%.

81

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The new revolving credit facility is guaranteed by the subsidiaries that were guarantors or borrowers under the 2003 Florida/Texas senior secured credit facility and is secured by a leasehold mortgage on the Gaylord Palms Resort & Convention Center. The new revolving credit facility requires the Company to achieve substantial completion and initial opening of the Texas hotel by June 30, 2004. The new revolving credit facility was arranged by Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC.

On November 20, 2003, pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 4, 2003, the Company acquired ResortQuest International, Inc (ResortQuest) in a tax-free stock-for-stock merger. ResortQuest, which is based in Destin, Florida, is one of the largest vacation rental property managers in the United States. ResortQuest will continue to operate as a separate brand led by members of its existing senior management team. Under the terms of the merger agreement, the ResortQuest stockholders received 0.275 shares of Gaylord common stock for each outstanding share of ResortQuest common stock. ResortQuest became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and ResortQuest stockholders owned approximately 14% of the outstanding shares of the Company immediately following the merger.

Gaylord is a party to the lawsuit styled Nashville Hockey Club Limited Partnership v. Gaylord Entertainment Company, Case No. 03-1474, now pending in the Chancery Court for Davidson County, Tennessee. In its complaint for breach of contract, Nashville Hockey Club Limited Partnership alleges that Gaylord failed to honor its payment obligation under a Naming Rights Agreement for the multi-purpose arena in Nashville known as the Gaylord Entertainment Center. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Gaylord failed to make a semi-annual payment to Plaintiff in the amount of \$1,186,565.50 when due on January 1, 2003 and in the amount of \$1,245,894 when due on July 1, 2003. Gaylord contends that it made the payment due under the Naming Rights Agreement by way of set off against obligations owed by Plaintiff to CCK Holdings, LLC (CCK) (a wholly owned consolidated subsidiary of the Company) under a put option CCK exercised pursuant to the Partnership Agreement between CCK and Plaintiff. CCK has assigned the proceeds of its put option to Gaylord. Gaylord is vigorously contesting this case by filing an answer and counterclaim denying any liability to Plaintiff, specifically alleging that all payments due to Plaintiff under the Naming Rights Agreement have been paid in full and asserting a counterclaim for amounts owing on the put option under the Partnership Agreement. Plaintiff has filed a motion for summary judgment, which has been set for hearing on February 6, 2004, and the parties are proceeding with discovery. Gaylord will continue to vigorously assert its rights in this litigation.

As discussed in the Company s consolidated financial statements included in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC in March 2003, the Company restated its historical financial statements for 2000, 2001 and the first nine months of 2002 to reflect certain non-cash changes, which resulted primarily from a change to the Company s income tax accrual and the manner in which the Company accounted for its investment in the Nashville Predators. The Company has been advised by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) Staff that it is conducting a formal investigation into the financial results and transactions that were the subject of the restatement by the Company. The Company has been cooperating with the SEC staff and intends to continue to do so. Although the Company cannot predict the ultimate outcome of the investigation, the Company does not currently believe that the investigation will have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial condition or results of operations.

82

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

22. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is selected unaudited quarterly financial data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 (amounts in thousands, except per share data).

The sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not equal the annual totals due to rounding.

7	O	Λ	1
4	v	v	4

	First Quarter	Second Quarter	Third Quarter	Fourth Quarter
Revenues	\$ 99,657	\$95,937	\$100,421	\$109,237
Depreciation and amortization	15,230	12,762	13,933	14,555
Operating income (loss)	(15,671)	8,749	18,294	(4,282)
Income (loss) of continuing operations before income taxes, discontinued operations and				
accounting change	(10,627)	2,869	26,617	(5,582)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(4,094)	(1,584)	7,283	(287)
Income (loss) of continuing operations before				
discontinued operations	(6,533)	4,453	19,334	(5,295)
Gain from discontinued operations, net of				
taxes	958	1,425	80,710	2,664
Cumulative effect of accounting change	(2,572)			
Net income (loss)	(8,147)	5,878	100,044	(2,631)
Net income (loss) per share	(0.24)	0.17	2.96	(0.08)
Net income (loss) per share assuming dilution	(0.24)	0.17	2.96	(0.08)

During the second quarter of 2002, the Company sold its partnership share of the Opry Mills partnership to certain affiliates of The Mills Corporation for approximately \$30.8 million in cash proceeds upon the disposition. The Company deferred approximately \$20.0 million of the gain representing the estimated present value of the continuing land lease interest between the Company and the Opry Mills partnership at June 30, 2002. The Company recognized the remainder of the proceeds, net of certain transaction costs, as a gain of approximately \$10.6 million during the second quarter of 2002.

Also during the second quarter of 2002, the Company adopted a plan of restructuring to streamline certain operations and duties. Accordingly, the Company recorded a pretax restructuring charge of \$1.1 million related to employee severance costs and other employee benefits. The second quarter 2002 restructuring charge was offset by a reversal of \$1.1 million of the fourth quarter 2001 restructuring charge.

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company sold its interest in the land lease discussed above in relation to the sale of the Opry Mills partnership and recognized the remaining \$20.0 million deferred gain, less certain transaction costs.

During the third quarter of 2002, the Company finalized the sale of Acuff-Rose Music Publishing to Sony/ATV Music Publishing for approximately \$157.0 million in cash. The Company recognized a pretax gain of \$130.6 million during the third quarter of 2002 related to the sale in discontinued operations. The

83

Table of Contents

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

gain on the sale of Acuff-Rose Music Publishing is recorded in the income from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of operations.

2001

	First Quarter	Second Quarter	Third Quarter	Fourth Quarter
Revenues	\$78,551	\$ 68,077	\$ 67,163	\$ 82,275
Depreciation and amortization	9,526	9,703	9,594	9,582
Operating loss	(3,205)	(17,294)	(8,705)	(14,017)
Income (loss) of continuing operations before				
income taxes, discontinued operations and				
accounting change	27,046	(3,067)	(39,095)	(4,191)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	8,569	(1,294)	(15,042)	(1,375)
Income (loss) of continuing operations before				
discontinued operations	18,477	(1,773)	(24,053)	(2,816)
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes	(7,278)	(2,155)	(19,546)	(19,854)
Cumulative effect of accounting change	11,202			
Net income (loss)	22,401	(3,928)	(43,599)	(22,670)
Net income (loss) per share	0.67	(0.12)	(1.30)	(0.67)
Net income (loss) per share assuming dilution	0.67	(0.12)	(1.30)	(0.67)

During the second quarter of 2001, the Company recognized pretax impairment and other charges of \$11.4 million. Also during the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a reversal of \$2.3 million of the restructuring charges originally recorded during the fourth quarter of 2000.

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company recognized a pretax loss of \$2.9 million from continuing operations representing impairment and other charges and pretax restructuring charges from continuing operations of \$5.8 million offset by a pretax reversal of restructuring charges of \$1.4 million originally recorded during the fourth quarter of 2000.

23. Information Concerning Guarantor and Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries

Not all of the Company s subsidiaries guarantee the \$350 million Senior Notes. All of the Company s subsidiaries that are borrowers or have guaranteed borrowings under the Company s new revolving credit facility or previously, the Company s 2003 Florida/Texas senior secured credit facility will be guarantors (the Guarantors) of the notes. Certain of the Company s subsidiaries, including those that incurred the Company s Nashville hotel loan or own or manage the Nashville loan borrower (the Non-Guarantors), do not guarantee the notes. The condensed consolidating financial information includes certain allocations of revenues and expenses based on management s best estimates, which are not necessarily indicative of financial position, results of operations and cash flows that these entities would have achieved on a stand alone basis.

The following consolidating schedules present condensed financial information of the Company, the guarantor subsidiaries and the non-guarantor subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2002.

84

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2002

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In thousands)		
Revenues	\$ 63,549	\$176,149	\$206,132	\$(40,578)	\$405,252
Operating expenses:					
Operating costs	16,399	112,497	135,685	(9,998)	254,583
Selling, general and administrative	39,814	39,286	29,998	(366)	108,732
Management fees		13,196	17,454	(30,650)	
Preopening costs		8,913			8,913
Gain on sale of assets		(30,529)			(30,529)
Restructuring charges, net	(1,086)	104	965		(17)
Depreciation	6,238	22,895	23,561		52,694
Amortization	2,343	595	848		3,786
Operating income (loss)	(159)	9,192	(2,379)	436	7.090
Interest expense, net	(36,598)	(30,037)	(27,095)	46,770	(46,960)
Interest income	45,499	290	3,789	(46,770)	2,808
Unrealized loss on Viacom stock	(37,300)	270	3,707	(10,770)	(37,300)
Unrealized gain on derivatives	86,476				86,476
Other gains and (losses)	1,753	(643)	53		1,163
Income (loss) before income taxes, discontinued operations, and cumulative	50.651	(01.100)	(25, (22))	406	10.055
effect of accounting change	59,671	(21,198)	(25,632)	436	13,277
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	20,157	(9,462)	(9,813)	436	1,318
Equity in subsidiaries (earnings) losses, net	(55,630)			55,630	
Income (loss) from continuing operations	95,144	(11,736)	(15,819)	(55,630)	11,959
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net		9,803	75,954		85,757
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net		(2,572)			(2,572)
Net income (loss)	\$ 95,144	\$ (4,505)	\$ 60,135	\$(55,630)	\$ 95,144

Table of Contents 111

85

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2001

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues	\$ 45,649	\$ 60,909	\$222,073	\$(32,565)	\$296,066
Operating expenses:					
Operating costs	19,498	46,402	143,027	(7,628)	201,299
Selling, general and administrative	27,851	9,810	29,551		67,212
Management fees		9,004	16,227	(25,231)	
Preopening costs		15,927			15,927
Impairment and other charges	6,858	845	6,559		14,262
Restructuring charges, net	2,182				2,182
Depreciation	6,900	4,339	23,499		34,738
Amortization	2,091	934	642		3,667
Operating income (loss)	(19,731)	(26,352)	2,568	294	(43,221)
Interest expense, net	(33,412)	(9,994)	(42,062)	46,103	(39,365)
Interest income	47,388	2,194	2,075	(46,103)	5,554
Unrealized gain on Viacom stock	782				782
Unrealized gain on derivatives	54,282				54,282
Other gains and (losses)	(10,565)	13,112	114		2,661
Income (loss) before income taxes, discontinued operations, and cumulative					
effect of accounting change	38,744	(21,040)	(37,305)	294	(19,307)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	14,465	(8,193)	(15,708)	294	(9,142)
Equity in subsidiaries (earnings) losses, net	83,277			(83,277)	
Income (loss) from continuing operations	(58,998)	(12,847)	(21,597)	83,277	(10,165)
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net		(26,136)	(22,697)		(48,833)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net	11,202				11,202
Net income (loss)	\$(47,796)	\$(38,983)	\$ (44,294)	\$ 83,277	\$ (47,796)

Table of Contents 112

86

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2000

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues	\$ 48,650	\$ 53,329	\$ 233,960	\$ (29,332)	\$ 306,607
Operating expenses:	,	,	,	. (, ,	,
Operating costs	20,163	44,004	146,917	(1,066)	210,018
Selling, general and administrative	31,570	17,078	40,404	() /	89,052
Management fees		10,012	18,703	(28,715)	
Preopening costs		5,278		` ' '	5,278
Impairment and other charges	3,720	23,807	48,133		75,660
Restructuring charges, net	632	812	11,508		12,952
Depreciation	6,830	5,376	23,172		35,378
Amortization	1,645	1,100	6,536		9,281
Operating income (loss)	(15,910)	(54,138)	(61,413)	449	(131,012)
Interest expense, net	(34,045)	(29,847)	(62,761)	96,346	(30,307)
Interest income	89,530	9,088	1,774	(96,346)	4,046
Other gains and (losses)	2,050	(6,398)	834		(3,514)
Income (loss) before income taxes, discontinued operations, and cumulative effect of accounting					
change	41,625	(81,295)	(121,566)	449	(160,787)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	16,066	(26,157)	(42,689)	449	(52,331)
Equity in subsidiaries (earnings) losses, net	181,615			(181,615)	
Income (loss) from continuing					
operations	(156,056)	(55,138)	(78,877)	181,615	(108,456)
Gain (loss) from discontinued	(120,020)	(55,156)	(10,011)	101,015	(100,100)
operations, net		(26,913)	(20,687)		(47,600)
operations, not		(20,513)	(20,007)		(17,000)
Net income (loss)	\$(156,056)	\$(82,051)	\$ (99,564)	\$ 181,615	\$(156,056)
		87			

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2002

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(in thousands)		
		ASSETS:			
Current assets:					
Cash and cash equivalents unrestricted	\$ 92,896	\$ 3,644	\$ 2,092	\$	\$ 98,632
Cash and cash equivalents restricted	2,732		16,591		19,323
Trade receivables, net	1,237	10,768	22,610	(12,241)	22,374
Deferred financing costs	26,865				26,865
Deferred income taxes	10,344	3,601	6,608		20,553
Other current assets	5,330	6,295	14,264		25,889
Intercompany receivables, net	509,409			(509,409)	
Current assets of discontinued operations			4,095		4,095
Total current assets	648,813	24,308	66,260	(521,650)	217,731
Property and equipment, net	85,132	661,151	363,880	(- ,)	1,110,163
Goodwill		6,915			6,915
Amortized intangible assets, net	1,480	319	197		1,996
Investments	726,985	22,202	60,598	(300,705)	509,080
Estimated fair value of derivative assets	207,727	,	,	, , ,	207,727
Long-term deferred financing costs	93,660		7,273		100,933
Other long-term assets	11,432	2,351	10,540		24,323
Long-term assets of discontinued operations	, -	,	13,328		13,328
8			- ,		
Total assets	\$1,775,229	\$ 717,246	\$ 522,076	\$(822,355)	\$2,192,196
Ĭ	JABILITIES AN	D STOCKHOLDE	RS EQUITY:		
Current liabilities:			Lis Equili		
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 522	\$	\$ 8,004	\$	\$ 8,526
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	16,008	44,114	33,098	(12,535)	80,685
Intercompany payables, net	,	655,381	(167,130)	(488,251)	
Current liabilities of discontinued		,	(,,	(, - ,	
operations		1,523	5,129		6,652
Total current liabilities	16,530	701,018	(120,899)	(500,786)	95,863
Secured forward exchange contract	613,054				613,054
Long-term debt	60,931		271,181		332,112
Deferred income taxes	183,496	7,242	53,634		244,372
Estimated fair value of derivative liabilities	48,647				48,647
Other long-term liabilities	64,581	(11,450)	14,470	294	67,895
Long-term liabilities of discontinued					
operations		(22,691)	23,480		789
Minority interest of discontinued operations		, , ,	1,885		1,885
Stockholders equity:					
Preferred stock					
Common stock	338	3,337	2	(3,339)	338
Additional paid-in capital	520,796	235,126	123,093	(358,219)	520,796
Retained earnings	282,798	(195,176)	155,481	39,695	282,798
Other stockholders equity	(15,942)	(160)	(251)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(16,353)

Total stockholders equity	787,990	43,127	278,325	(321,863)	787,579
Total liabilities and stockholders					
equity	\$1,775,229	\$ 717,246	\$ 522,076	\$(822,355)	\$2,192,196
		00			
		88			

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of December 31, 2001

		Issuer	Guarai	ntors		on- rantors	Eliminations	Co	nsolidated
					(In t	housands)		
			ASSETS:						
Current assets:	ф	7.100	ф	207	Φ.	1.770	Ф	Ф	0.104
Cash and cash equivalents unrestricted	\$	7,108	\$	307		1,779	\$	\$	9,194
Cash and cash equivalents restricted		30,821		500		4,172	(21.026)		64,993
Trade receivables, net		1,860	11,	592	2	1,834	(21,836)		13,450
Deferred financing costs		26,865	1	(22		2.006			26,865
Deferred income taxes		13,809		623		8,006	2.054		23,438
Other current assets		4,871	3,	405	4	4,011	2,854		15,141
Intercompany receivables, net		570,508	22	001	-	2.400	(570,508)		51.500
Current assets of discontinued operations	_		32,	091	- 19	9,498		_	51,589
Total current assets		655,842	49,	018		9,300	(589,490)		204,670
Property and equipment, net		81,883	534,	103	37:	5,206			991,192
Goodwill			11,	136					11,136
Amortized intangible assets, net		5,725		355		219			6,299
Investments		651,220	48,	802	7:	2,661	(222,511)		550,172
Estimated fair value of derivative assets		158,028							158,028
Long-term deferred financing costs		123,738			13	3,775			137,513
Other long-term assets		9,442		791	19	9,820			30,053
Long-term assets of discontinued operations			43,	304	4:	5,277			88,581
	_							-	
Total assets	\$1,	685,878	\$ 687,	509	\$61	5,258	\$(812,001)	\$2	2,177,644
1	IARII	ITIES AN	D STOCKE	IOI DEI	DC FO	HITV.			
Current liabilities:	AADIL	ATTES AN	DSTOCKE	IOLDE	NS EQ	UIII:			
Current portion of long-term debt	\$	80,000	\$		• •	3,004	\$	\$	88,004
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	φ	24,740		896		5,726	(19,319)	φ	88,043
Intercompany payables, net		24,740	593,			2,901)	(570,508)		00,043
Current liabilities of discontinued			393,	, 1 02	(2.	2,901)	(370,300)		
operations	_		9,	602	2	1,626		_	31,228
Total current liabilities		104,740	659,	907	32	2,455	(589,827)		207,275
Secured forward exchange contract		613,054							613,054
Long-term debt		20,000			36	0,993			380,993
Deferred income taxes		117,394	(13,	,121)	34	4,326			138,599
Estimated fair value of derivative liabilities		85,424							85,424
Other long-term liabilities		47,273		754	4	4,424	337		52,788
Long-term liabilities of discontinued									
operations			(6,	912)	,	7,756			844
Minority interest of discontinued operations						1,679			1,679
Stockholders equity:									
Preferred stock									
Common stock		337	3,	337		10	(3,347)		337
Additional paid-in capital		519,695	235,	126	79	9,363	(314,489)		519,695
Retained earnings		187,654	(190,	(671)	9:	5,346	95,325		187,654
Other stockholders equity		(9,693)	(911)		(94)			(10,698)

Total stockholders equity	697,993	46,881	174,625	(222,511)	696,988
Total liabilities and stockholders					
equity	\$1,685,878	\$ 687,509	\$616,258	\$(812,001)	\$2,177,644
		89			
		69			

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2002

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In thousands)		
Net cash provided by continuing operating activities	\$ 110,765	\$ 40,248	\$ (67,184)	\$	\$ 83,829
Net cash provided by discontinued					
operating activities		(517)	3,968		3,451
Net cash provided by operating activities	110,765	39,731	(63,216)		87,280
Purchases of property and equipment	(11,550)	(161,396)	(12,703)		(185,649)
Sale of assets		30,875			30,875
Other investing activities	(2,401)	12,777	(1,086)		9,290
Net cash used in investing activities					
continuing operations	(13,951)	(117,744)	(13,789)		(145,484)
Net cash provided by investing activities		01.250	151.000		222 570
discontinued operations		81,350	151,220		232,570
Net cash provided by investing activities	(13,951)	(36,394)	137,431		87,086
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	85,000				85,000
Repayment of long-term debt	(125,034)		(89,812)		(214,846)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash and cash equivalents	28,089		17,581		45,670
Proceeds from exercise of stock option and			17,001		
purchase plans	919				919
				_	
Net cash used in financing activities continuing operations	(11.026)		(72,231)		(92.257)
Net cash used in financing activities	(11,026)		(72,231)		(83,257)
discontinued operations			(1,671)		(1,671)
				_	
Net cash used in financing activities	(11,026)		(73,902)		(84,928)
					
Net change in cash	85,788	3,337	313		89,438
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of					
year	7,108	307	1,779		9,194
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$ 92,896	\$ 3,644	\$ 2,092	\$	\$ 98,632
		90			
		70			

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2001

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In thousands)		
Net cash provided by continuing operating	* (0.4.46.4)	4.251.062		A	Φ 15 100
activities	\$ (84,464)	\$ 251,963	\$(152,377)	\$	\$ 15,122
Net cash provided by discontinued operating activities		4,848	(4,480)	_	368
Net cash provided by operating activities	(84,464)	256,811	(156,857)		15,490
Purchases of property and equipment	(5,184)	(262,420)	(13,317)		(280,921)
Other investing activities	889	4,850	(2,706)		3,033
<u> </u>				_	
Net cash used in investing activities					
continuing operations	(4,295)	(257,570)	(16,023)		(277,888)
Net cash provided by investing activities	(1,275)	(237,370)	(10,023)		(277,000)
discontinued operations		452	17,342		17,794
inscontinued operations		132	17,512	_	
Jet each used in investing activities	(4.205)	(257.110)	1 210		(260,004)
Net cash used in investing activities Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	(4,295) 100,000	(257,118)	1,319 435,000		(260,094) 535,000
Repayment of long-term debt	(500)		(241,003)		(241,503)
Deferred financing costs paid	(3,642)		(15,940)		(19,582)
Increase) decrease in restricted cash and	(3,042)		(13,940)		(19,362)
ash equivalents	(26,861)		(25,465)		(52,326)
Proceeds from exercise of stock option and	(20,801)		(23,403)		(32,320)
burchase plans	2.548				2,548
outeriase plans	2,340				2,540
Net cash provided by financing activities	71.545		152 502		224 127
continuing operations	71,545		152,592		224,137
Net cash provided by financing activities			2.004		2.004
liscontinued operations			2,904		2,904
				_	
Net cash provided by financing activities	71,545		155,496		227,041
				_	
Net change in cash	(17,214)	(307)	(42)		(17,563)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of					
rear	24,322	614	1,821		26,757
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$ 7,108	\$ 307	\$ 1,779	\$	\$ 9,194
1	,		, ,		, ., .

91

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended December 31, 2000

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In thousands)		
Net cash provided by continuing operating	Φ (07 (00)	Ф 104.524	Φ (50 030 <u>)</u>	Ф	Ф. 27.012
activities	\$ (87,692)	\$ 184,534	\$ (59,030)	\$	\$ 37,812
Net cash used in discontinued operating activities		483	(27,061)		(26 579)
activities		403	(27,001)	_	(26,578)
Net cash provided by operating activities	(87,692)	185,017	(86,091)		11,234
Purchases of property and equipment	(3,133)	(172,717)	(41,011)		(216,861)
Other investing activities		2,154	` ′ ′		(33,027)
Julei lilvesting activities	(16,363)	2,134	(18,818)	_	(33,027)
Total and the increasing a satisfied			· <u> </u>		
Net cash used in investing activities ontinuing operations	(19,496)	(170,563)	(59,829)		(249,888)
Vet cash used in investing activities	(19,490)	(170,303)	(39,829)		(249,000)
liscontinued operations		(12,129)	(26,923)		(39,052)
inscontinued operations	<u> </u>	(12,129)	(20,923)		(39,032)
Tarin di artico	(10.406)	(102 (02)	(96.752)		(200,040)
Net cash used in investing activities	(19,496)	(182,692)	(86,752)		(288,940)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	500	(2,000)	175,000		175,500
depayment of long-term debt	(500)	(3,000)			(3,500)
Cash proceeds from secured forward	(12.054				612.054
xchange contract	613,054		(2.000)		613,054
Deferred financing costs paid	(192,643)		(2,809)		(195,452)
Net payments under revolving credit	(204.000)				(204.000)
greements	(294,000)				(294,000)
Increase) decrease in restricted cash and cash	(2.0(0)		(0.707)		(12.667)
quivalents	(3,960)		(8,707)		(12,667)
roceeds from exercise of stock option and	2.126				2.126
urchase plans	2,136				2,136
Net cash provided by financing activities					
ontinuing operations	124,587	(3,000)	163,484		285,071
Net cash provided by financing activities					
liscontinued operations			9,306		9,306
		<u> </u>			
Net cash provided by financing activities	124,587	(3,000)	172,790		294,377
				_	
Net change in cash	17,399	(675)	(53)		16,671
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of					
rear	6,923	1,289	1,874		10,086
				_	
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	\$ 24,322	\$ 614	\$ 1,821	\$	\$ 26,757
-					

92

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following unaudited consolidating schedules present condensed financial information of the Company, the guarantor subsidiaries, and the non-guarantor subsidiaries as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002.

Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues	\$ 48,371	\$148,826	\$151,562	\$(30,808)	\$317,951
Operating expenses:					
Operating costs	16,250	86,321	97,265	(7,903)	191,933
Selling, general and administrative	25,879	33,199	20,932	(69)	79,941
Management fees		11,123	11,713	(22,836)	
Preopening costs		7,111			7,111
Gain on sale of assets					
Impairment and other charges					
Restructuring charges, net					
Depreciation	4,161	17,394	18,106		39,661
Amortization	2,324	467	992		3,783
					<u> </u>
Operating income (loss)	(243)	(6,789)	2,554		(4,478)
Interest expense, net	(28,092)	(20,086)	(16,477)	33,516	(31,139)
Interest income	27,989	957	6,343	(33,516)	1,773
Unrealized gain (loss) on Viacom stock	(27,067)		-,-	(,,	(27,067)
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives	24,016				24,016
Other gains and (losses)	465	(10)	(20)		435
<i>g., </i>					
Income (loss) before income taxes and					
discontinued operations	(2,932)	(25,928)	(7,600)		(36,460)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	(949)	(9,820)			(15,974)
` '	, ,	(9,820)	(5,205)	17 622	(13,974)
Equity in subsidiaries (earnings) losses, net	(17,623)			17,623	
T (1) 6					
Income (loss) from continuing	1 7 7 10	(4 < 400)	(0.00	(1 - <00)	(20.105)
operations	15,640	(16,108)	(2,395)	(17,623)	(20,486)
Income (loss) from discontinued					
operations, net		977	35,149		36,126
Cumulative effect of accounting change					
Net income (loss)	\$ 15,640	\$ (15,131)	\$ 32,754	\$(17,623)	\$ 15,640
		93			

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Operations

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2002

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
Revenues	\$ 50,117	\$138,529	\$140,625	\$(33,256)	\$296,015
Operating expenses:					
Operating costs	15,266	86,836	94,116	(7,330)	188,888
Selling, general and administrative	26,147	28,410	21,806		76,363
Management fees		12,122	13,804	(25,926)	
Preopening costs		7,946			7,946
Gain on sale of assets		(30,529)			(30,529)
Impairment and other charges					
Restructuring charges, net	(1,019)	104	965		50
Depreciation	4,744	16,844	17,649		39,237
Amortization	1,672	460	556		2,688
	 _				
Operating income (loss)	3,307	16,336	(8,271)		11,372
Interest expense, net	(27,568)	(23,823)	(20,728)	35,830	(36,289)
Interest income	35,827	261	1,659	(35,830)	1,917
Unrealized loss on Viacom stock	(39,611)				(39,611)
Unrealized gain on derivatives	80,805				80,805
Other gains and (losses)	1,179	(887)	373		665
	<u> </u>				
Income (loss) before income taxes and					
discontinued operations	53,939	(8,113)	(26,967)		18,859
Provision (benefit) for income taxes	13,164	(2,676)	(8,883)		1,605
Equity in subsidiaries (earnings) losses, net	(57,000)	(2,070)	(0,002)	57,000	1,000
Equity in substanties (currings) tosses, net	(37,000)				
Income (loss) from continuing					
Income (loss) from continuing	97,775	(5.427)	(10.004)	(57,000)	17,254
operations Income (loss) from discontinued	91,113	(5,437)	(18,084)	(37,000)	17,234
		8,135	74.059		83,093
operations, net Cumulative effect of accounting change		(2,572)	74,958		(2,572)
Cumulative effect of accounting change		(2,372)			(2,372)
Net income (loss)	\$ 97,775	\$ 126	\$ 56,874	\$(57,000)	\$ 97,775
		94			

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet

As of September 30, 2003

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In thousands)		
		ASSETS:			
Current assets:				
Cash and cash equivalents unrestricted	\$ 23,133	\$ 599	\$ 1,040	\$	\$ 24,772
Cash and cash equivalents restricted	136,495		14,048		150,543
Trade receivables, net	386	17,885	11,328	(8,328)	21,271
Deferred financing costs	27,722	1,740			29,462
Deferred income taxes	10,344	3,601	6,608		20,553
Intercompany receivable	421,828		44,240	(466,068)	
Other current assets	5,407	7,138	15,277	(175)	27,647
Current assets of discontinued operations		<u> </u>	2,185		2,185
Total current assets	625,315	30,963	94,726	(474,571)	276,433
Property and equipment, net	85,486	798,053	354,463	-	1,238,002
Goodwill	03,400	6,915	334,403		6,915
Amortized intangible assets, net	1,649	317	4		1,970
Investments	722,991	22,202	60,598	(323,779)	482,012
Estimated fair value of derivative assets	200,274	22,202	00,398	(323,119)	200,274
	71,112	4,253	2,812		78,177
Long-term deferred financing costs Other long-term assets	9,875	2,002	10,493		22,370
Long-term assets of discontinued operations	9,073	2,002	8,398		8,398
Long-term assets of discontinued operations			0,398		6,396
Total assets	\$1,716,702	\$ 864,705	\$ 531,494	\$(798,350)	\$2,314,551
	LADIL MELEC AN		IDG FOLLEY		
Current liabilities:	JABILITIES AN	D STOCKHOLDE	LKS EQUITY:		
Current portion of long-term debt	\$ 517	\$ 22	\$ 74,004	\$	\$ 74,543
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	42,672	23,552	28,283	(8,797)	85,710
Intercompany payable	42,072	580,901	(114,833)	(466,068)	65,710
Current liabilities of discontinued		360,901	(114,033)	(400,000)	
operations		22	3,145		3,167
operations			5,145		3,107
Total current liabilities	43,189	604,497	(9,401)	(474,865)	163,420
Total culton habilities			(5,101)	(171,003)	103,120
Secured forward exchange contract	613,054				613,054
Long-term debt	452	200,212	193,178		393,842
Deferred income taxes	178,125	17,987	50,850		246,962
Estimated fair value of derivative liabilities	17,177	- , , , , , ,	2 3,00 0		17,177
Other long-term liabilities	58,250	12,301	136	294	70,981
Long-term liabilities of discontinued	20,230	12,501	130	271	70,701
operations		829	(1)		828
Intercompany		02)	(1)		020
Minority interest of discontinued operations			2,019		2,019
Stockholders equity:			2,017		2,017
Common stock	339	3,337	2	(3,339)	339
	337	3,337	_	(0,00)	337

Additional paid-in capital	523,330	235,126	107,386	(342,512)	523,330
Retained earnings	298,438	(210,307)	188,235	22,072	298,438
Other stockholders equity	(15,652)	723	(910)		(15,839)
Total stockholders equity	806,455	28,879	294,713	(323,779)	806,268
	<u> </u>	 -			 -
Total liabilities and stockholders equity	\$1,716,702	\$ 864,705	\$ 531,494	\$(798,350)	\$2,314,551
		95			

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2003

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(in thousands)		
Net cash provided by continuing operating activities	\$ 128,538	\$ (40,919)	\$(43,168)	\$	\$ 44,451
Net cash provided by discontinued operating activities			2,524	_	2,524
Net cash provided by operating activities	128,538	(40,919)	(40,644)		46,975
Purchases of property and equipment Sale of assets	(3,266)	(155,354)	(8,808)		(167,428)
Other investing activities	(2,075)	167	(670)	_	(2,578)
Net cash used in investing activities					
continuing operations	(5,341)	(155,187)	(9,478)		(170,006)
Net cash provided by investing activities discontinued operations			59,485		59,485
Net cash used in investing activities	(5,341)	(155,187)	50.007		(110,521)
Repayment of long-term debt	(60,000)	(===,==,)	(12,003)		(72,003)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	, ,	200,000			200,000
Deferred financing costs paid		(7,793)			(7,793)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash and cash					
equivalents	(133,763)		2,543		(131,220)
Proceeds from exercise of stock option and					
purchase plans	1,287				1,287
Other financing activities, net	(484)	854	(861)	<u>—</u>	(491)
Net cash used in financing activities					
continuing operations	(192,960)	193,061	(10,321)		(10,220)
Net cash used in financing activities discontinued operations			(94)		(94)
				_	
Net cash used in financing activities	(192,960)	193,061	(10,415)	_	(10,314)
Net change in cash	(69,763)	(3,045)	(1,052)		(73,860)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	92,896	3,644	2,092	_	98,632
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 23,133	\$ 599	\$ 1,040	\$	\$ 24,772
				_	

96

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Unaudited Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2002

	Issuer	Guarantors	Non- Guarantors	Eliminations	Consolidated
			(In thousands)		
Net cash provided by continuing operating					
activities	\$ 175,642	\$(26,468)	\$ (85,596)	\$	\$ 63,578
Net cash used in discontinued operating activities		(517)	151		(366)
Net cash provided by operating activities	175,642	(26,985)	(85,445)		63,212
Purchases of property and equipment	(11,548)	(84,693)	(9,651)		(105,892)
Sale of assets		30,875			30,875
Other investing activities	(24)	172	(390)	_	(242)
Net cash used in investing activities continuing					
operations	(11,572)	(53,646)	(10,041)		(75,259)
Net cash provided by investing activities discontinued operations		81,350	151 205		222 745
discontinued operations		61,330	151,395		232,745
Net cash provided by investing activities	(11,572)	27,704	141,354		157,486
Repayment of long-term debt	(125,000)		(75,054)		(200,054)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	85,000				85,000
Deferred financing costs paid					
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash and cash					
equivalents	29,589		20,324		49,913
Proceeds from exercise of stock option and					
purchase plans	856				856
Other financing activities, net	1,314				1,314
Net cash used in financing activities continuing					
operations	(8,241)		(54,730)		(62,971)
Net cash used in financing activities discontinued	(0,211)		(31,730)		(02,771)
operations discontinued			(839)		(839)
operations.					(00)
Net cash used in financing activities	(8,241)		(55,569)		(63,810)
Not ahanga in aash	155 820	710	240		156 000
Net change in cash	155,829	719	340		156,888
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	7,108	307	1,779	_	9,194
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$ 162,937	\$ 1,026	\$ 2,119	\$	\$ 166,082

97

Table of Contents

Item 7. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(c) Exhibits

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP

98

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

GAYLORD ENTERTAINMENT COMPANY

Date: January 9, 2004 By: /s/ David C. Kloeppel

Name: David C. Kloeppel

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

99

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description
23.1	Consent of Ernst & Young LLP
	100